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OFFICE OF THE COMPTROLLER
City OF ST. Louis

DARLENE GREEN g 212 City Hall
Comptroller (314) 622-4389
FAX: (314) 622-4026

January 11, 2019

The Honorable Lyda Krewson, Mayor
The Honorable Members of the Board of Aldermen
and the Citizens of the City of St. Louis, Missouri:

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of St. Louis, Missouri (City) for
the fiscal year ended June 50, 2018 is hereby submitted.

This report has been prepared pursuant to, and to demonstrate compliance with, Article
VIII, Section 10, of the City Charter. The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
(CAFR) 1s in conformance with the standards for financial reporting of the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the Government Finance Officers Association
of the United States and Canada (GFOA).

Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data, and the completeness and fairness of the
presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. To the best of our knowledge
and belief, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects and are reported in a
manner designed to present fairly the financial position and results of operation. All
disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain an understanding of the City’s financial
activities have been included.

The City’s basic financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent
certified public accounting firm. The goal of the independent audit was to provide
reasonable assurance that the basic financial statements of the City for the fiscal year
ended June 30. 2018, are free of material misstatement. The independent auditor
concluded. based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an
unmodified opinion that the City’s basic financial statements for the fiscal year ended
June 30. 2018, are fairly presented in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP). The independent auditors’ report is presented as the first component
of the financial section of this report.

GAAP require that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis
to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of the Management’s Discussion
and Analysis (MD & A). This letter of transmittal is designed to compliment MD & A
and should be read in conjunction with it. The City’s MD & A can be found immediately
following the report of the independent auditors.

stlovis-mo.gov/government/departments/comptroller




ACCOUNTING SYSTEM, INTERNAL CONTROLS, AND BUDGETARY CONTROL

The City utilizes a fully computerized Accounting Information Management System
(AIMS). This system is based on a single input of information. The AIMS system
provides: 1) integrated, general and subsidiary accounting of all funds;
2) appropriation/encumbrances accounting and control; and 3) the ability to generate
cost/expenditure data in a multitude of formats useful for budgetary control and other
managerial purposes.

In developing and evaluating the City’s accounting system, consideration was given to
the adequacy of internal accounting controls. Internal accounting controls are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding:

- The safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, and

- The reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining
accountability for assets.

- The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that:
— The cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived, and

— The evaluation of assets and benefits requires estimates and judgements by
management.

All internal control evaluations occur within this framework. Therefore, the
Comptroller’s Office believes that the City’s internal accounting controls adequately
safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial
transactions.

Through annual appropriations, the City maintains budgetary control at the fund level.
Cost classifications are categorized in the following groups: personnel services, materials
and supplies. rental and non-capital leases, non-capital equipment, capital assets.
contractual and other services, and debt service and special extraordinary items.

Encumbrances are recorded by the Control Section (or in some cases by the requesting
department) through an on-line budgetary control module before requisitions are sent to
the Purchasing Division. If sufficient appropriations are not available to cover a purchase,
the requisition is returned to the originating department for transfer of appropriations
between departments with prior approval of the Board of Estimate and Apportionment
(E&A). A formal monthly expense monitoring procedure has been established to help
eliminate rejected requisitions and related cancellations, and to minimize line item
transfers. Encumbrances are detailed for current year budgetary presentations. While
appropriation balances lapse at the end of the fiscal year, appropriation balances for
encumbrances remain.




Within the Strategic Financial Plan for the City, major controls help guide City officers in
their deliberation over the financial wisdom of potential actions. One of those controls
recommends the City to informally reserve a minimum of 5% of the next year’s general
fund expenditures for appropriation only under severe circumstances. The reserve
effectively reduces the funds available for appropriation.

BUDGET PROCESS

The City’s fiscal year is July 1 through June 30. The budget process begins in the
preceding December with a revenue forecast for the upcoming fiscal year. By February,
department budget requests are submitted to the Budget Division, and the review process
begins immediately.

The Budget Division works closely with E&A in developing, within forecasted revenue
constraints, the proposed budget. By law, E&A must recommend a balanced budget to
the Board of Aldermen (the Board), the City’s legislative body sixty days prior to the
start of a new fiscal year. The Board may decrease but not increase any recommended
appropriation amount. The Board, however, may recommend changes in the proposed
budget. Any changes must be mutually agreed upon between the Board and E&A. If a
budget cannot be agreed upon prior to July 1, the final budget presented by E&A
becomes the official budget.

As part of the long-term financial planning, the Budget Division prepares a S-year
projection of revenues and expenditures. The projection is based on known challenges
facing the City as well as straight-line growth based on recent history. No formal action is
taken on the projections.

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The 61.4 — square mile City is the core of a fifteen county Metropolitan Statistical Area
(MSA) covering both Missouri and [llinois, and as such is the employment and
entertainment center of an area containing a population of 2.8 million residents. The
Metropolitan area is the 21st largest metropolitan area in the United States in terms of
population. The City represents 16% of all jobs in the MSA. Job growth in the City has
been concentrated in the bio-science, healthcare and service sectors and the City
anticipates strong, long-term employment growth in the areas of medical, business and
recreational services, as well as in education, and the tourism and convention business.

MAJOR INITIATIVES

In order to take advantage of the current market environment, the City issued $25.7
million in Refunding and Improvement Bonds for the Convention Center, series 2017,
resulting in an overall economic gain (difference between present value of old and new
debt service payments ) of approximately $0.2 million. Savings from the refunding will
be used to buy requested equipment for the convention center without increasing debt.




The St. Louis Board of Aldermen approved a $3 increase to residents' monthly garbage
fees to purchase additional trash trucks and improve garbage pickup. A trash task force
was also formed to address illegal dumping throughout the city.

In November 2017, voters approved an additional % cent sales tax increase to fund public
safety issues, including competitive compensation for police and fire fighters, and Circuit
Attorney and recreation initiative to combat crime. This sales tax took effect April 1,
2018, and the estimated $21.5 million annually will be included in the fiscal year 2019
budget.

More than $5 billion has been invested in the last decade, bringing people, jobs,
commerce, residential living, and urban vitality needed to strengthen the core of the St.
Louis region. Continued focus on improving commercial districts throughout the City is
making City living and neighborhoods more desirable. Continued focus on the
manufacturing sector and, in essence, a public/private partnership with these operations
to attract investment and growth, along with cultivating those areas where the region has
strength, such as life science, information technology and financial services, is
progressing.

LONG TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The City continues to address the challenges of the current economic climate in the fiscal
year 2019 budget. Historical trends since the end of the last recession suggest long-term
growth at under 2% each year. The ability to meet the rising costs of City services and
growing infrastructure needs with this limited growth remains a perennial challenge The
City continues to pursue efforts to reduce operating expenditures and staffing where
possible without impacting services The City’s FY19 operating plan addresses funding
for some of the most recent initiatives including the Economic Development sales tax
which took effect October 1, 2017, increases in costs related to City employee
compensation, meet outstanding debt obligations and provides a context for further
review of different ways to provide City services so as to provide the opportunity to
enhance funding in priority areas.

In order to restore the unreserved general fund balance in case of a recession, the FY19
budget will appropriate an amount of 1.5% of payroll specifically for that purpose. In the
coming fiscal year this will amount to $3.4 million and it is anticipated that this new
mechanism for contributing to reserves will be part of the annual budget process going
forward.

INTERNAL AUDIT

It is the special responsibility of the Comptroller, as set out in the Charter, to provide City
officials and taxpayers with reasonable assurance that public funds and property are
adequately safeguarded and that financial transactions are authorized and properly
recorded.




The Comptroller’s internal audit staff audits various departments within the City testing
for the methods employed by the department to safeguard the assets, ensuring the
reliability of the accounting data, promoting efficient operations and ensuring compliance
with established ordinances and the City Charter. Audits may also be performed on
various corporations and not-for-profit organizations to ensure compliance with the
various coniractual agreements with the City. In addition to audits, the internal audit staff
reviews the revenue collection procedures established by those departments and
employees who receive or collect City revenue. As a result of these audits and reviews,
the internal auditors develop recommendations of procedures that should be implemented
to improve internal controls. These audits and reviews are performed on a continual
basis.

CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT

The City’s CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 was awarded the Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting from the GFOA. This is the thirtieth
year the City has received this prestigious award.

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an
casily readable and efficiently organized CAFR, whose contents conform to program
standards. The report satisfied both generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for one year only. We believe that our current
CAFR will continue to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program requirements and
we will be submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate,

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I would like to express my appreciation to the staff members of the Comptroller’s Office
for their many hours in the preparation of this report. I also extend my appreciation to the
independent accounting firm of KPMG LLP for their professional service. Contributions
to the completion and publication of this financial history were made by staff of other
departments to whom I also express my appreciation.

Respectfully submitted,

Darlene Green
Comptroller
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KPMG LLP

Suite 900

10 South Broadway

St. Louis, MO 63102-1761

Independent Auditors’ Report

Honorable Mayor and Members of
The Board of Aldermen of the
City of St. Louis, Missouri:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of St. Louis, Missouri (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements
for the year then ended as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the
financial statements of the pension trust funds and the St. Louis Development Corporation discretely presented
component unit. The assets and revenues (additions) of the pension trust funds represent 91% and 58% of the
assets and revenues (additions), respectively, of the aggregate remaining fund information. The assets and
revenues of the St. Louis Development Corporation represent 100% of the assets and revenues of the
aggregate discretely presented component unit. The financial statements of the pension trust funds and the St.
Louis Development Corporation were audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us, and
our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for those funds and discretely presented component
unit, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits
contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial statements of the Employees
Retirement System of the City of St. Louis pension trust fund were not audited in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.



KPMG

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of St. Louis, Missouri, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in note 1, effective July 1, 2017, the City of St. Louis, Missouri implemented Governmental
Accounting Standards Boards (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the Management’s Discussion and Analysis on
pages 4 through 22, the Budgetary Comparison Information on pages 152 through 159, and the Retirement
Systems and Other Postemployment Benefit Plan Information on pages 160 through 168 be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We and the other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of St. Louis, Missouri’s basic financial statements. The Combining and Individual Fund
Financial Statements and Schedules — Additional Supplementary Information, and the Introductory and
Statistical Sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements.

The Combining and Individual Fund Financial Statements and Schedules — Additional Supplementary
Information are the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. In our opinion, the Combining and Individual Fund Financial Statements and Schedules —
Additional Supplementary Information are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.



KPMG

The Introductory and Statistical Sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance
on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 11, 2019 on
our consideration of the City of St. Louis, Missouri’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the City of St. Louis, Missouri’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering City of St.
Louis, Missouri’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

KPMa LP

St. Louis, Missouri
January 11, 2019



CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited
June 30, 2018

As management of City of St. Louis, Missouri (the City), we offer readers of the City’s Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report this narrative overview and analysis of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The
information presented here should be read in conjunction with our letter of transmittal and the City’s basic
financial statements including the notes to the financial statements. All amounts, unless otherwise indicated,
are expressed in thousands of dollars.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (excluding discretely presented component unit)

e On a government-wide basis, the City’s total assets and deferred outflow of resources exceeded its
liabilities and deferred inflow of resources as of the current fiscal year end by $414.8 million.

e Governmental activities and business-type activities had a net position of ($922.7) million and
$1,337.5 million, respectively.

e The cost of services for the City’s governmental activities was $796.9 million in fiscal year 2018 (excluding
interest and fiscal charges).

e As of June 30, 2018, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$237.3 million. Of this amount, ($3.5) million is unassigned fund balance (deficit).

e Infiscal year 2018, the City issued $104.6 million in long-term debt to finance projects and refund debt in
governmental activities.

e Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75 required the change of the Other
Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) accounting and reporting requirements. The change increased total
OPERB liabilities by $255.5 million.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The
City’s basic financial statements include three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains required supplementary
information and supplementary and other information in addition to the basic financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s
finances using accounting methods similar to those used by private sector business.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets, deferred outflow of resources,
liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and net position. Increases and decreases in net position may serve as
a useful indicator of whether or not the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Thus revenues and expenses reported in this
statement for some items will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (for example, uncollected taxes
and earned but unused vacation leave).

The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported by
taxes and inter-governmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees or charges (business-type activities).

4 (Continued)



CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited
June 30, 2018

The governmental activities of the City include general government, convention and tourism, parks and
recreation, judicial, streets, public safety (fire, police, other), health and welfare, public service, and community
development, as well as, interest and fiscal charges. The business-type activities of the City include an airport,
water division, and parking division.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary government),
but also a legally separate redevelopment agency. Financial information for this component unit is reported
separately from the financial information presented for the primary government.

Included in the financial statements are the operations of the Public Facilities Protection Corporation (PFPC),
St. Louis Municipal Finance Corporation, and St. Louis Parking Commission Finance Corporation as blended
component units.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The funds of the
City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

1. Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near term inflows
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end
of a fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing
requirements.

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so,
readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions.
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate the comparison between
governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains several individual governmental funds according to their type (general, special revenue,
debt service, and capital projects). Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance
sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for
the general fund, redevelopment projects fund, capital projects fund, and grants fund, which are considered
to be major funds. Individual fund data for each of the nonmajor governmental funds is provided in the form
of additional supplementary information as combining statements.
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2. Proprietary Funds. Proprietary funds offer short-term and long-term financial information about services for
which the City charges customers, both external customers and internal departments of the City. The City
maintains the following two types of proprietary funds:

e Enterprise Funds are used to report information similar to business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements. The City uses the enterprise funds to account for the operations
of the St. Louis Lambert International Airport (Airport), Water Division, and the Parking Division.

e Internal Service Funds are used to report activities that provide supplies and services for certain City
programs and activities. The City uses internal service funds to account for its mail handling services,
for payment of workers’ compensation and various other claims, health insurance, and equipment
service.

3. Fiduciary Funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of individuals or
units outside of the City. The City is the trustee or fiduciary responsible for assets that can be used only for
the trust beneficiaries per trust arrangements. The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported
in these funds are used for their intended purposes. All of the City’s fiduciary activities are reported in a
separate statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. The City’s
pension trust funds and agency funds are reported under the fiduciary funds. Since the resources of these
funds are not available to support the City’s own programs, they are not reflected in the government-wide
financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of
the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and notes to the financial statements, this report presents required
supplementary information concerning the City’s budgetary comparisons for the general fund, and
redevelopment projects fund, and required supplementary information pertaining to the Firemen’s Retirement
System of St. Louis, the Firefighters’ Retirement Plan of the City of St. Louis, the Police Retirement System of
St. Louis and the Employees Retirement System of the City of St. Louis pension trust funds and other
post-employment benefits.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

Net position: The City’s combined net position for fiscal year 2018 was $414.8 million, down from
$646.5 million from fiscal year 2017. Looking at the net position of governmental and business-type activities
separately provides additional information.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Schedule of Net Position Summary
June 30, 2018 and 2017

(Dollars in millions)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
Assets 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Current and other assets $ 457.4 394.4 424.6 656.9 882.0 1,051.3
Capital assets 817.2 813.5 1,766.1 1,792.2 2,5683.3 2,605.7
Total asset 1,274.6 1,207.9 2,190.7 2,449.1 3,465.3 3,657.0
Deferred outflow of resources 98.5 236.9 20.3 314 118.8 268.3
Total assets and
deferred outflow
of resources 1,373.1 1,444.8 2,211.0 2,480.5 3,584.1 3,925.3
Liabilities
Long-term liabilities 2,003.3 1,927.8 804.5 1,105.1 2,807.8 3,032.9
Other liabilities 179.4 172.2 59.4 51.9 238.8 224.1
Total liabilities 2,182.7 2,100.0 863.9 1,157.0 3,046.6 3,257.0
Deferred inflow of resources 113.1 15.8 9.6 6.0 122.7 21.8
Total liabilities and
deferred inflow
of resources 2,295.8 2,115.8 873.5 1,163.0 3,169.3 3,278.8
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 501.1 506.3 1,124.3 785.2 1,625.4 1,291.5
Restricted 106.7 63.5 101.9 419.4 208.6 482.9
Unrestricted (deficit) (1,530.5) (1,240.8) 111.3 112.9 (1,419.2) (1,127.9)
Total net position $ (922.7) (671.0) 1,337.5 1,317.5 414.8 646.5
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ANALYSIS OF NET POSITION

As noted earlier, net position may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. For the City,
assets and deferred outflow of resources exceeded liabilities by $414.8 million at the close of the most recent
fiscal year.

The largest portion of the City’s net position consists of its net investment in capital assets (for example,
infrastructure, land, buildings, and equipment), less any related outstanding debt used to acquire those assets.
The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available
for future spending. Although the City’s net investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it
should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the
capital assets themselves cannot be liquidated for these liabilities.

Included in the City’s total net position at the end of fiscal year 2018 and fiscal year 2017, respectively, is
$208.6 million and $482.9 million, which represent resources that are subject to external restrictions on how
they may be used.

Total unrestricted net position decreased by $291.3 million for the year ended June 30, 2018 primarily due to
the change in accounting and reporting regarding GASB Statement No. 75, OPEB liability. Unrestricted
governmental activities net position showed a $1,530.5 million deficit at the end of fiscal year 2018 as
compared with a $1,240.8 million deficit in fiscal year 2017. This deficit does not mean that the City does not
have resources available to pay its bills next year. Rather, it is the result of having long-term commitments that
are greater than currently available resources. For example, the City’s policy and practice is to budget for
certain long-term expenses as they come due. Specifically, the City did not include in past annual budgets the
full amounts needed to finance future liabilities arising from property and casualty claims, amounts to pay for
unused employee vacation and sick days or pay annual OPEB due. The City will continue to include these
amounts in future year’s budgets as they come due.

In addition, six particular features of the City’s recent financial activity affected the deficit in unrestricted
governmental net position. These activities over the past several years reflect debt to provide development
stimulus for which the City received no offsetting asset. They include the following:

e Section 108 loan agreements, $17.1 million

e Joint venture financing agreement for the expansion of the convention center, $19.1 million

e Obligations with component unit for the convention center hotel, $16.0 million

e Obligations with component units for downtown development, $14.7 million

¢ Obligations with component unit for downtown sports center, $53.6 million

e Redevelopment and Tax increment financing debt for economic development projects in the amount of
$364.2 million
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Although the net position of the business-type activities account for the majority of overall net position, these
resources cannot be used to make up for the unrestricted net position deficit in governmental activities. The
City generally can only use the net position to finance the continuing operations of the Airport, Water Division,

and the Parking Division.

Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services $
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

General revenues:
Taxes
Investment income

Total revenues

Expenses:

General government
Convention and tourism
Parks and recreation
Judicial
Streets
Public safety:

Fire

Police

Other
Health and w elfare
Public service
Community development
Interest and fiscal charges
Airport
Water Division
Parking Division

Total expenses

Excess (deficiency) before
transfers

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Schedule of Changes in Net Position

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

(Dollars in millions)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
163.2 133.7 236.9 241.7 400.1 375.4
62.3 66.8 0.9 11 63.2 67.9
7.9 151 20.5 11.9 28.4 27.0
618.0 590.8 — — 618.0 590.8
0.5 0.6 2.1 2.6 2.6 3.2
851.9 807.0 260.4 257.3 1,112.3 1,064.3
58.4 83.0 — — 58.4 83.0
52 5.8 — — 5.2 5.8
30.3 317 — — 30.3 31.7
48.9 49.6 — — 48.9 49.6
74.3 75.3 — — 74.3 75.3
80.5 924 — — 80.5 924
243.2 280.3 — — 243.2 280.3
60.0 60.7 — — 60.0 60.7
55.8 56.0 — — 55.8 56.0
80.8 79.7 — — 80.8 79.7
59.5 47.3 — — 59.5 47.3
59.3 58.4 — — 59.3 58.4
— — 164.6 176.9 164.6 176.9
— — 50.4 49.0 50.4 49.0
— — 15.0 16.5 15.0 16.5
856.2 920.2 230.0 242.4 1,086.2 1,162.6
(4.3) (113.2) 30.4 14.9 26.1 (98.3)
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Transfers

Change in net position
Net position — beginning of year
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle

Net position — end of year
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Schedule of Changes in Net Position

Fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017

(Dollars in millions)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
10.4 11.4 (10.4) (11.4) — —
6.1 (101.8) 20.0 35 26.1 (98.3)
(671.0) (569.2) 1,317.5 1,314.0 646.5 744.8
(257.8) — — — (257.8) —
(922.7) (671.0) 1,337.5 1,317.5 414.8 646.5

Changes in net position. The City’s total revenue on a government-wide basis was $1,112.3 million, an
increase of $48.0 million over the previous year. Taxes represent 55.6% of the City’s revenue as compared
with 55.5% last year. Additionally, 36.0% comes from fees charged for services, as compared to 35.3% of the
previous year’s revenue. The remainder is state and federal aid, interest earnings, and miscellaneous

revenues.

The total cost of all programs and services was $1,086.2 million, a decrease from $1,162.6 million last fiscal
year. The City’s expenses cover a range of typical City/county services. The largest program was the Airport.
The program with the largest burden on general revenues was public safety.

Governmental activities. As a result of this year’s operations, the net position of governmental activities
increased by $6.1 million. The increase was mainly driven by costs associated with the net pension obligations
of the City’s four retirement plans. The cumulative effect of change in accounting principle decreased the net
position by an additional $257.8 million. The net position decrease is primarily related to the anticipated level of
spending over the expected growth in revenues. Revenues increased by $44.9 million or 5.6%.
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The following chart reflects the revenues by type as a percentage of total revenues for governmental activities
for fiscal year 2018.
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The following chart illustrates the City’s governmental activities expenses by program ($in millions). Total cost
of governmental activities was $856.2 million, a decrease of $64.0 million or 7.0% over the prior year. As

shown, public safety is the largest function in expense (44.8%). The majority of the spending was the result of
funding Police of $243.2 million and Fire of $80.5 million, which includes any costs associated with their
retirement plans.
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The following chart is a comparison of expense of governmental activities for fiscal years ended 2018 and

2017.
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The following chart depicts the total expenses and total program revenues of the City’s governmental functions
for the year ended June 30, 2018.

Governmental Program Revenues and Expenses
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Governmental Activities
(Dollars in millions)
Total cost of services Net costs of services
2018 2017 2018 2017
General government $ 58.4 83.0 (15.4) (37.8)
Convention and tourism 5.2 5.8 (5.2) (5.8)
Parks and recreation 30.3 31.7 (25.0) (25.8)
Judicial 48.9 49.6 (37.6) (41.1)
Streets 74.3 75.3 (42.6) 47.1)
Public safety:
Fire 80.5 92.4 (66.6) (79.8)
Police 243.2 280.3 (235.5) (274.9)
Other 60.0 60.7 (29.9) (37.1)
Health and welfare 55.8 56.0 (29.3) (21.6)
Public senice 80.8 79.7 (68.4) (59.8)
Community development 59.5 47.3 (18.1) (15.2)
Totals $ 796.9 861.8 (563.6) (646.0)
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The preceding charts represent the cost of governmental activities this year excluding interest and fiscal
charges. The cost this year was $796.9 million compared with $861.8 million last year. However, as shown in
the statement of activities, the amount that our taxpayers ultimately financed for these activities through City
taxes was $618.0 million. The primary remaining difference of $178.9 million comprises charges for services
($163.2 million), operating grants and contributions ($62.3 million), and capital grants and contributions

($7.9 million).

Business-Type activities. Business-type activities reflect an increase in net position of $20.0 million or 1.5%.

St. Louis Lambert International Airport. The net position of the Airport increased by $15.1 million or 1.4%.
The operating loss was ($7.7) million this year versus net operating loss of ($1.3) million in 2017. Total
operating revenues for 2018 was $134.3 million. Of this amount, major sources of operating revenue included
aviation revenues (56.9%), concessions (21.5%), parking, net (17.4%), and lease revenue (4.2%). A significant
nonoperating revenue is passenger facility charges which accounts for $28.5 million.

At June 30, 2018, the capital assets balance was $1,533.6 million. This amount includes buildings and
structures of $240.9 million, pavings with $496.2 million, and equipment with $24.7 million, all net of
accumulated depreciation. Land is $750.9 million, construction in progress is $17.4 million, and easements is
$3.5 million.

At June 30, 2018, the Airport had bonded debt of $630.3 million.

Water Division The net position of the Water Division increased by $2.3 million or 1.0%. Operating income
was $4.4 million in fiscal year 2018 and $4.8 million in fiscal year 2017. Total operating revenues for 2018 was
$54.4 million. Of this amount, major sources of operating revenue included metered revenue (42.3%) and flat
rate revenue (45.6%).

At June 30, 2018, the capital assets balance was $160.9 million. This amount includes buildings and structures
(net of accumulated depreciation) with $13.6 million, reservoirs and water mains, lines and accessories with
$98.4 million, equipment with $32.3 million, land with $1.2 million, and construction-in-progress with

$15.4 million.

At June 30, 2018, the Water Division had bonded debt of $8.1 million.

Parking Division. The net position of the Parking Division increased by $2.6 million or 7.1%. Operating income
was $5.5 million in fiscal year 2018 and $6.5 million in fiscal year 2017. Total operating revenues for 2018 was
$17.9 million. Of this amount, major sources of operating revenue included parking meter revenue (18.3%),
parking violations notices revenue (24.5%), and parking facilities revenue (52.2%).

At June 30, 2018, the capital assets balance was $71.4 million. This amount includes buildings and parking
garages (net of accumulated depreciation) with $43.4 million, parking meters and lot equipment with

$3.9 million, equipment with $1.0 million, and land with $22.9 million and construction-in-progress with

$.2 million.
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At June 30, 2018, the Parking Division had bonded debt of $61.1 million.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

(Dollars in millions)
2018 vs. 2017 2018 vs. 2017

2018 2017 $ Change % Change
Total assets $ 429.2 386.0 43.2 11.2 %
Total liabilities $ 87.1 95.2 (8.1) (8.5)
Deferred inflow of resources 104.9 104.0 0.9 0.9
Fund balance:
Restricted and Nonspendable 154.8 128.9 25.9 20.1
Committed 77.8 69.3 8.5 12.3
Assigned 8.1 4.1 4.0 97.6
Unassigned (3.5) (15.5) 12.0 (77.4)
Total fund balance 237.2 186.8 50.4 27.0
Total liabilities,
deferred inflow of
resources, and
fund balance $ 429.2 386.0 43.2 11.2 %

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS
Governmental Funds

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on inflows, outflows and balances of
current financial resources that are available for spending. At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned
fund balance of the general fund was $15.9 million.

The total fund balance in the City’s general fund increased by $19.7 million or 107.2% in the current fiscal year.
The City’s general fund decreased by $4.0 million or 18.0% in the prior fiscal year. During fiscal year 2017, the
committed balance of the fund balance was used to fund a 27th pay period the City experienced (a result of the
biweekly pay calendar that occurs every eleven years).

The total fund balance in the redevelopment projects fund increased by $4.4 million or 12.2% in the current
fiscal year. The increase is due to the increase tax revenues received this year which is from the profitability of
the redevelopment.
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The total fund balance in the City’s capital projects fund decreased by $3.7 million or 4.9% in the current fiscal
year. The City’s capital projects fund increased by $12.5 million or 19.7% in the prior fiscal year. This is
primarily due to the use of proceeds of general obligation bonds issued in fiscal year 2017 to be used for capital
improvements.

The grants fund received $62.3 million in intergovernmental revenues that funded community development in
the amount of $16.0 million, or 25.7%, and health and welfare in the amount of $34.7 million, or 55.8% in the
current fiscal year. The grants fund received $66.8 million in intergovernmental revenues that funded
community development in the amount of $21.4 million, or 32.1%, and health and welfare in the amount of
$34.1 million, or 51.1% in the prior fiscal year.

The total fund balance in the City’s other governmental funds increased by $29.7 million or 53.5% in the current
fiscal year. The increase is primarily due to the first full year of collection of the Economic Development tax
approved by voters the previous fiscal year. The City’s other governmental funds increased by $4.7 million or
9.3% in the prior fiscal year.

Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial
statements, but in more detail.

At the end of the fiscal year, the unrestricted net position for the Airport was $59.5 million, the Water Division
was $29.2 million, and the Parking Division was $22.6 million, as compared with $64.9 million, $27.0 million,
and $21.0 million, respectively in 2017. The total increase in net position for the enterprise funds was

$20.0 million in the current year.

Fiduciary Funds

The City maintains fiduciary funds for the assets of the pension trust funds for the Firemen’s Retirement
System, the Firefighters’ Retirement Plan, the Police Retirement System, and the Employees Retirement
System. As of the end of the funds’ fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, the net position of the pension funds
totaled $2.1 billion, an increase of $0.1 billion from the previous year.

The City is the custodian of the agency funds and the most common use of agency funds is for pass-through
activity. Since, by definition, all assets of the agency funds are held for the benefit of other entities, there is no
net position to discuss. As of the end of the current fiscal year, the combined gross assets of the agency funds
totaled $54.4 million. This amount comprises activity from the collector of revenue, property tax escrow, general
insurance, bail bonds, license collector, circuit clerk, police agency, treasurer’s office college fund and other
miscellaneous agency activities.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The final budget for the City’s general fund represents the original budget plus any previously appropriated
funds set aside for the purpose of honoring legally incurred obligations (prior year encumbrances and
commitments) plus any additional supplemental appropriations that may occur during the fiscal year.

This discussion presents the budget information on the budgetary basis as the Board of Alderman approves the
budget.
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The general fund revenue estimate including transfers in and supplemental estimates totaled $513.2 million.
Actual results for the fiscal year’s revenues and transfers in were $509.0 million, which was below the original
estimates by $4.1 million or 0.8% of the estimate.

The general fund expense budget was $515.6 million including transfers out. This also includes prior year
encumbrances and commitments of $2.5 million set aside and re-appropriated and a supplemental
appropriation of $2.7 million and $1.0 million from the 27th pay period reserve. Actual expenditures and
transfers out totaled $506.9 million. This includes expenditures of $1.0 million from prior year encumbrances
and commitments. The encumbrances and commitments carried over into the next fiscal year in regard to the
fiscal year 2018 budget total $3.4 million. The general fund ended the fiscal year with a budget-basis-operating
surplus of $2.1 million plus $1.0 million from the 27th pay period reserve.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The City had invested $2.6 billion in a broad range of capital assets, including fire equipment, park facilities,
roads, bridges, runways and water systems.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Schedule of Changes in Capital Assets
Net of Accumulated Depreciation

(Dollars in millions)

Governmental activities Business-type activities Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Land $ 81.7 81.7 775.1 775.2 856.8 856.9
Construction in progress 10.6 334 33.1 38.9 43.7 72.3
Equipment in progress 0.5 0.2 — — 0.5 0.2
Intangibles, nondepreciable 1.9 1.3 3.5 3.5 54 4.8
Works of art 3.6 3.6 — — 3.6 3.6
Buildings and improvements 471.6 460.1 297.8 303.0 769.4 763.1
Equipment 57.5 60.4 61.9 62.5 119.4 122.9
Infrastructure 189.2 172.2 — — 189.2 172.2
Intangibles, depreciable 0.5 0.6 — — 0.5 0.6
Pavings — — 496.3 510.6 496.3 510.6
Reservoirs — — 20.4 211 20.4 211
Water mains, lines,
accessories — — 77.9 77.4 77.9 77.4
Total $ 817.1 813.5 1,766.0 1,792.2 2,583.1 2,605.7
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For government-wide financial presentation, all depreciable capital assets were depreciated from acquisition
date to the end of the current fiscal year. Governmental fund financial statements record capital asset
purchases as expenditures.

For additional information on capital assets, refer to note 7 in the notes to the basic financial statements.
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At the end of fiscal year 2018, the City had outstanding long-term debt obligations for governmental activities in
the amount of $976.7 million compared with $979.5 million in fiscal year 2017. Of this amount, $33.1 million are
general obligation bonds and $364.2 million are development and tax increment financing bonds and notes

payable. Leasehold revenue obligations outstanding totaled $400.1 million.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

(Dollars in millions)

Outstanding Long-Term Debt Obligations — Governmental Activities

Fiscal year Fiscal year
2018 2017 $Change % Change

General obligation bonds payable $ 33.1 37.3 4.2) (11.3)%
Section 108 Loan Guarantee

Assistance Programs 17.1 22.2 (5.1) (23.0)
Loan agreement with FPF 21.7 13.7 8.0 58.4
Development and tax increment

financing bonds and notes

payable 364.2 388.7 (24.5) (6.3)
Loan agreement with Missouri

Transportation Finance

Corporation — 0.5 (0.5) (100.0)
Energy Loan Program 0.9 — 0.9 100.0
Capital lease — rolling stock 8.9 11.0 (2.1) (19.1)
Certificates of participation 3.1 3.8 0.7) (18.4)
Obligations with component unit 84.2 37.1 47.1 127.0
Leasehold revenue improvement

and refunding bonds 400.1 419.9 (19.8) 4.7)
Joint venture financing agreement 19.1 24.1 (5.0) (20.7)
Unamortized premium/discounts 24.3 21.2 3.1 14.6

$ 976.7 979.5 (2.8) (0.3)%

State statutes limit the amount of general obligation debt a governmental entity may issue to 10% of its total
assessed valuation. The City’s authorized debt limit for calendar year 2017 was $458.3 million. The City’s
effective legal debt margin as of June 30, 2018 was $434.7 million. For additional information on long-term

debt, refer to the note 13 to the basic financial statements.
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The City’s underlying general obligation credit ratings changed for fiscal year 2018. The City ratings on
uninsured general obligation bonds as of June 30, 2018 were:

Moody’s Investor’'s Service, Inc. Baal
Standard and Poor’s Corporation A+
Fitch IBCA, Inc. Ratings A-

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Revenue Bonds Outstanding
Long-Term Debt Obligations — Business-Type Activities

(Dollars in millions)

Fiscal year Fiscal year
2018 2017 $ Change % Change
Airport $ 630.3 906.3 (276.0) (30.45)%
Water Division 8.1 8.5 0.4) 4.71)
Parking Division 61.1 64.4 (3.3) (5.12)
Total $ 699.5 979.2 (279.7) (28.56)%

Outstanding revenue bonds of the business-type activities of the City as of June 30, 2018 and 2017 were
$699.5 million and $979.2 million, respectively. The amount reflects a decrease of $279.7 million, or 28.56%.
This amount includes Airport bonds of $630.3 million, Water Division bonds of $8.1 million, and Parking
Division bonds of $61.1 million. For additional information on revenue bonds of the business-type activities,
refer to notes 13 and 17 of the basic financial statements.

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget

The fiscal year 2019 annual operating budget allocates $1,116 million among all budgeted funds, a 5.9%
increase over the previous year’s budget, including supplemental appropriations.

The fiscal year 2019 general fund revenue budget is $517.5 million compared with $513.2 million in fiscal
year 2018, which includes a supplemental appropriation of $2.7 million. This amount reflects an increase of
$4.4 million, or 1.4%.

Total employee positions for fiscal year 2019 are 6,608 which is down 14 positions from fiscal year 2018.
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited
June 30, 2018

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a
general overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives.

If you have any questions about this report or need additional information, please contact the Office of the
Comptroller of the City of St. Louis, 1200 Market Street, Room 311, Saint Louis, Missouri 63103.
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Receivables, net
Inventories
Restricted assets
Internal balances
Other assets
Receivable from primary government
Property held for development, net
Net pension asset
Capital assets, net:
Nondepreciable
Depreciable

Total assets
Deferred outflow of resources
Total assets and deferred outflow of resources
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued salaries and other benefits
Accrued interest payable
Unearned revenue
Other liabilities
Payable to component unit
Payable to other government agencies
Long-term liabilities:

Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total liabilities
Deferred inflow of resources
Total liabilities and deferred inflow of resources
Net Position

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted:

Debt service

Capital projects

Passenger facility charges

Statutory restrictions
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Component
Primary government unit
Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total SLDC
$ 102,077 47,077 149,154 12,490
27,210 124,002 151,212 57
200,369 26,490 226,859 18,501
1,378 4,635 6,013 —
95,975 226,632 322,607 —
11,031 (11,031) — —
2,478 4,969 7,447 571
— — — 347
— — — 30,244
16,967 1,885 18,852 —
98,304 811,729 910,033 7,376
718,850 954,263 1,673,113 21,523
1,274,639 2,190,651 3,465,290 91,109
98,468 20,335 118,803 —
1,373,107 2,210,986 3,584,093 91,109
19,729 25,957 45,686 1,413
12,333 9,836 22,169 —
142,549 18,471 161,020 —
3,082 5,202 8,284 —
1,315 — 1,315 —
347 — 347 —
3 43 46 —
126,039 39,594 165,633 9,480
1,877,289 764,772 2,642,061 54,593
2,182,686 863,875 3,046,561 65,486
113,114 9,597 122,711 —
2,295,800 873,472 3,169,272 65,486
501,157 1,124,303 1,625,460 17,016
40,278 80,540 120,818 —
18,278 — 18,278 —
— 21,339 21,339 —
48,174 — 48,174 —
(1,530,580) 111,332 (1,419,248) 8,607
$ (922,693) 1,337,514 414,821 25,623
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Statement of Activities
Year ended June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Program revenues

Net (expense) revenue and changes in net position

Operating Capital Primary government Component
Charges for grants and grants and Governmental Business-type unit
Functions/programs Expenses services contributions contributions activities activities Total SLDC
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government $ 58,416 42,203 833 — (15,380) — (15,380) —
Convention and tourism 5,193 — — — (5,193) — (5,193) —
Parks and recreation 30,316 4,762 593 — (24,961) — (24,961) —
Judicial 48,902 9,178 2,131 — (37,593) — (37,593) —
Streets 74,304 31,068 630 (42,606) — (42,606) —
Public safety:
Fire 80,495 12,152 1,724 — (66,619) — (66,619) —
Police 243,213 3,905 3,773 — (235,535) — (235,535) —
Other 59,999 29,205 928 — (29,866) — (29,866) —
Health and welfare 55,750 917 35,503 — (19,330) — (19,330) —
Public service 80,843 5,142 — 7,268 (68,433) — (68,433) —
Community development 59,514 24,590 16,822 — (18,102) — (18,102) —
Interest and fiscal charges 59,259 — — — (59,259) — (59,259) —
Total governmental activities 856,204 163,122 62,307 7,898 (622,877) — (622,877) —
Business-type activities:
Airport 164,575 163,565 826 20,508 — 20,324 20,324 —
Water division 50,371 55,405 — — — 5,034 5,034 —
Parking division 15,000 17,947 — — — 2,947 2,947 —
Total business-type activities 229,946 236,917 826 20,508 — 28,305 28,305 —
Total primary government $ 1,086,150 400,039 63,133 28,406 (622,877) 28,305 (594,572) —
Component unit:
SLDC $ 23,682 13,665 10,511 — — — — 494
General revenues:
Taxes:
Property taxes, levied for general purpose 88,574 — 88,574 —
Property taxes, levied for debt service 6,872 — 6,872 —
Sales taxes 204,608 — 204,608 —
Earnings/payroll taxes 218,338 — 218,338 —
Gross receipts taxes (includes franchise tax) 94,046 — 94,046 —
Miscellaneous taxes 5,567 — 5,567 —
Unrestricted investment earnings 519 2,125 2,644 454
Transfers 10,411 (10,411) — —
Total general revenues and transfers 628,935 (8,286) 620,649 454
Change in net position 6,058 20,019 26,077 948
Net position — beginning of year, previously reported (670,995) 1,317,495 646,500 24,675
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (257,756) — (257,756) —
Net position — beginning of year, adjusted (928,751) 1,317,495 388,744 —
Net position — end of year (922,693) 1,337,514 414,821 25,623

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Assets

Cash and cash equivalents:
Restricted $
Unrestricted

Investments:

Restricted
Unrestricted

Receivables, net of allowances:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Other

Inventories

Prepaid asset

Due from other funds

Total assets $

Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources,
and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $
Accrued salaries and other benefits
Due to component unit
Due to other funds
Due to other governmental agencies
Advance to other funds
Unearned revenue
Other liabilities

Total liabilities
Deferred inflow of resources

Total liabilities and deferred inflow
of resources

Fund balances (deficit):
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total fund balances

Total liabilities, deferred inflow
of resources, and fund balances $

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOU
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

RI

Nonmajor
Major funds funds

Redevelopment Capital Other Total
General projects projects Grants governmental governmental

fund fund fund fund funds funds
8,406 3,579 23,949 1,052 3,734 40,720
19,963 23,413 9,664 — 38,494 91,534
11,817 1,762 31,769 — 9,907 55,255
4,416 5,433 7,060 363 8,318 25,590
104,523 24,332 4,382 — 38,290 171,527
2,532 — — — 229 2,761
3,708 1,202 1,203 10,783 586 17,482
5,165 — 18 — 1,516 6,699
342 — 1 — 398 741
1,378 — — — — 1,378
1,001 — — — — 1,001
8,453 6,077 — — — 14,530
171,704 65,798 78,046 12,198 101,472 429,218
4,799 58 5,069 7,078 2,252 19,256
11,282 10 58 425 558 12,333
— — — — 293 293
4,575 — 537 3,655 1,539 10,306
3 — — — — 3
40,435 — — — — 40,435
491 — — — 2,591 3,082
1,369 — — — — 1,369
62,954 68 5,664 11,158 7,233 87,077
70,774 25,108 41 — 8,967 104,890
133,728 25,176 5,705 11,158 16,200 191,967
2,379 — — — 11 2,390
18,709 36,886 52,575 1,040 43,213 152,423
1,020 — 39,088 — 37,672 77,780
— 3,736 — — 4,376 8,112
15,868 — (19,322) — — (3,454)
37,976 40,622 72,341 1,040 85,272 237,251
171,704 65,798 78,046 12,198 101,472 429,218
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Total fund balances — governmental funds — balance sheet $ 237,251

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:
Capital assets and certain other assets used in governmental activities, which exceed capitalization
threshold amounts (excluding internal service fund capital assets), are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the fund financial statements. 817,113

The City reports a net pension asset on the statement of net position relating to the Firemen’s Retirement
System. This asset is not reported in the fund financial statements. 16,967

Various taxes related to fiscal year 2018 will be collected beyond the 60-day period and are not recognized
as revenue in the fund financial statements, but are recorded as deferred inflow of resources. Revenue
for this amount is recognized in the government-wide financial statements. 8,422

Property taxes are assessed by the City on January 1st of each calendar year, but are not due until
December 31st. Taxes assessed on January 1, 2018 and payable on December 31, 2018 are
deferred inflows of resources within the fund financial statements. However, revenue for this
amount is recognized in the government-wide financial statements. 96,467

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of risk management, mailroom
services, health and equipment services to the individual funds, generally on a cost reimbursement
basis. The assets and liabilities of internal service funds are included in governmental activities
in the statement of net position. 8,686

Long-term liabilities applicable to the City’s governmental activities are not due and payable in the current
period and, accordingly, are not reported as liabilities within the fund financial statements. Interest on
long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when
due. All liabilities — both current and long-term — are reported on the government-wide statement of
net position. Also, during the year, the City issued new debt and refunded some of its existing debt.
Discounts, premiums, and deferred amounts on refunding are reported in the governmental fund
financial statements when the debt was issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized
over the life of the debt on the government-wide financial statements.

Balances as of June 30, 2018 are:

Accrued vacation and sick leave (50,964)
Total OPEB liability (489,731)
Net pension liability (432,848)
Accrued interest payable (142,549)
Joint venture financing agreement (19,093)
Certificates of participation (3,105)
Obligations with component unit (84,235)
Energy loan program (910)
Capital leases-rolling stock (8,917)
Leasehold revenue improvement and refunding revenue bonds (400,162)
Development and TIF bonds and notes payable (364,238)
General obligation bonds payable (33,060)
Section 108 Loan Guarantee Assistance Programs (17,110)
Loan agreement with FPF (21,745)
Deferred outflow of resources 98,468
Deferred inflow of resources (113,114)
Unamortized discounts 2,322
Unamortized premiums (26,608)

Total net position — governmental activities — statement of net position $ (922,693)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services, net
Court fines and forfeitures
Investment income
Interfund services provided
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General government
Convention and tourism
Parks and recreation
Judicial
Streets
Public safety:
Fire
Police
Other
Health and welfare
Public services
Community development
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal
Interest and fiscal charges

Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of capital asset
Issuance of leasehold revenue refunding revenue bonds
Issuance of obligations with component units
Issuance of capital lease — rolling stock
Issuance of refunding development and tax increment financing notes
Issuance of development and tax increment financing notes
Issuance of debt with Forest Park Forever
Payment to refunded escrow agent — leasehold revenue bonds
Payment for refunding of development and tax increment financing notes
Premium on bond issuances
Issuance of energy loan program agreement with DED
Transfers in
Transfers out

Total other financing (uses) sources, net
Net change in fund balances

Fund balances:
Fund balance, beginning of year

Fund balance, end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Governmental Funds
Year ended June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Nonmajor
Major funds funds

Redevelopment Capital Other Total
General projects projects Grants governmental governmental

fund fund fund fund funds funds
386,616 40,361 24,277 — 166,028 617,282
22,927 3 —_ —_ 7,990 30,920
25,259 4,080 7,898 62,307 2,796 102,340
38,237 —_ 219 —_ 14,759 53,215
3,112 — — — 2 3,114
348 (72) 271 (18) (11) 519
4,040 — — — — 4,040
4,281 20,579 1,917 — 10,747 37,524
484,820 64,952 34,582 62,289 202,311 848,954
36,214 1,008 —_ 807 17,616 55,645
120 — — — — 120
17,938 - 1,427 586 4,183 24,134
43,862 — — 2,134 2,658 48,654
36,686 — 2,704 — 893 40,283
72,554 — —_ 2,041 1,236 75,831
164,387 — — 3,481 24,741 192,609
49,470 —_ —_ 973 9,035 59,478
3,409 — — 34,703 17,475 55,587
34,622 —_ 2,726 —_ 43,053 80,401
— 9,996 33,511 16,007 — 59,514
1,667 —_ 59,581 41 —_ 61,289
13,383 34,758 21,402 1,350 10,109 81,002
19,766 18,843 5,980 106 8,363 53,058
494,078 64,605 127,331 62,229 139,362 887,605
(9,258) 347 (92,749) 60 62,949 (38,651)
— — 6 — — 6
23,602 — 2,133 — — 25,735
4,526 — 49,079 — — 53,605
— — 2,250 — — 2,250
— 7,318 — — — 7,318
— 5,869 — — — 5,869
—_ —_ 9,825 —_ —_ 9,825
(25,168) — — — — (25,168)
— (7,015) — — — (7,015)
2,574 — 2,660 — — 5,234
—_ —_ 980 —_ —_ 980
37,575 — 22,511 655 3,202 63,943
(14,157) (2,101) (387) (464) (36,423) (53,532)
28,952 4,071 89,057 191 (33,221) 89,050
19,694 4,418 (3,692) 251 29,728 50,399
18,282 36,204 76,033 789 55,544 186,852
37,976 40,622 72,341 1,040 85,272 237,251
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities

Year ended June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Net change in fund balances — governmental funds — statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets, meeting the capitalization
threshold, is allocated over their estimated useful lives and recorded as depreciation expense. Additionally, contributions of capital assets to the City
are recorded as capital contributions on the statement of activities. This is the amount by which capital outlays and capital contributions, meeting the
capitalization threshold, exceeded depreciation expense in the current year. Details of the reported amounts
are as follows:

Capital outlay

Capital contribution

Loss on disposal of capital assets
Depreciation expense

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the fund financial statements. These
amounts represent the extent to which revenues not providing current financial resources in the current fiscal year exceeded revenues not providing
current financial resources in the prior fiscal year (which are recognized in the fund financial statements in the current year). Such amounts are
attributable to the following factors:

Change in revenues received after the 60-day accrual period
Property taxes due in the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which they were assessed

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of risk management, mailroom services and health and equipment services to the
individual funds. The change in net position of internal service funds attributable to governmental activities is reported on the statement of activities.

The City reports a net pension liability and deferred outflows and inflows relating to pensions on the statement of net position relating to its defined benefit
pension plans. These accounts are not reported in the fund financial statements. Fluctuations in net pension liabilities and deferred outflows and inflows
relating to pensions are reported in the statement of activities.

The City reports a total other postemployment (OPEB) liability and deferred inflow of resources on the statement of net position relating to its OPEB plan.
These accounts are not reported in the fund financial statements. The fluctuation in the OPEB liability and deferred inflow of resources are reported in
the statement of activities.

Bond proceeds are reported as financing sources in governmental funds financial statements and thus contribute to the net change in fund balance. In the
statement of net position, however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the statement of activities. Similarly, repayments of
principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds financial statements, but reduces the liability in the statement of net position.

Debt issued during the current year:
Development and Tax increment financing bonds and notes payable
Capital Lease — rolling stock
Loan agreements with FPF and energy loan program
Leasehold revenue improvements and refunding revenue bonds
Obligations with component unit

Repayments during the current year:
Payments to refunded escrow agent — leasehold revenue bonds
Payment for refunding of development and tax increment financing notes
Annual principal payments on bonds and notes payable
Annual principal payments on joint venture financing agreement
Annual principal payments on capital lease
Annual principal payments certificates of participation

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds financial statements, expenditures are not recognized for transactions that
are not normally paid with expendable available financial resources. In the statement of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual basis of
accounting, expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available. In addition, interest on long-term debt is
not recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting until due, rather than as it accrues.

This adjustment combines the net changes of the following:
Accrued vacation and sick leave
Accrued interest payable
Unamortized discounts
Unamortized premiums
Deferred outflow of resources-bond refundings

Change in net position — governmental activities — statement of activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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50,399

61,289
2,754
(776)
(59,603)

3,664

(865)
1,792

927

3,028

(31,665)

(14,718)

(13,187)

(2,250)
(10,805)
(25,735)
(53,605)

(1,745)
(7,688)
(122)
(2,980)
(645)

13,180)
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
Investments:
Unrestricted investments
Receivables, net of allowances:
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Passenger facility charges
Accrued interest
Prepaid assets
Due from other funds
Advance from other funds
Inventories
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Cash and cash equivalents:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investments:
Restricted investments
Unrestricted investments

Capital assets:
Property, plant, and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation

Land, infrastructure and easements
Construction-in-progress

Capital assets, net
Intangibles and other assets, net
Net pension assets
Total noncurrent assets
Deferred outflow of resources
Total assets and deferred outflow of resources
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued salaries and other benefits
Accrued vacation and compensatory time benefits
Contracts and retainage payable
Accrued interest payable
Current portion of revenue bonds
Due to other funds
Due to other government agencies

Claims payable
Unearned revenue and other deposits

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable, net
Net pension liability
Customer deposits
Claims payable
Other liabilities

Total noncurrent liabilities
Deferred inflow of resources
Total liabilities and deferred inflow of resources
Net Position

Net investments in capital assets
Restricted:

Debt service

Passenger facility charges
Unrestricted

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Statement of Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Major funds — Enterprise funds

St. Louis
Lambert Total Internal
International Water Parking Enterprise Service
Airport Division Division Funds Funds
$ 104,310 399 3,866 108,575 —_
26,189 7,020 13,868 47,077 10,543
47,500 31,653 10,126 89,279 1,620
4,688 — — 4,688 —
4,307 14,842 211 19,360 1,159
2,292 — — 2,292 —
150 —_ —_ 150 —_
— — — — 1,478
—_ —_ —_ —_ 6,877
— — — — 40,435
2,326 2,309 —_ 4,635 —_
637 74 20 731 —
192,399 56,297 28,091 276,787 62,112
28,392 2,902 — 31,294 —
81,368 — 5,395 86,763 —
34,723 —_ —_ 34,723 —_
1,826,437 308,027 84,753 2,219,217 107
(1,064,682) (163,822) (36,450) (1,264,954) (66)
761,755 144,205 48,303 954,263 41
754,469 1,238 22,903 778,610 —_
17,423 15,467 229 33,119 —
1,533,647 160,910 71,435 1,765,992 41
1,689 1,864 685 4,238 —
1,885 — — 1,885 —
1,681,704 165,676 77,515 1,924,895 41
13,206 1,480 5,649 20,335 —
1,887,309 223,453 111,255 2,222,017 62,153
11,275 6,914 524 18,713 473
4,017 401 112 4,530 —
3,339 1,818 149 5,306 —
7,244 — — 7,244 —
18,190 105 176 18,471 —_
35,780 430 3,384 39,594 —
4,751 4,540 1,740 11,031 70
— — 43 43 —
—_ —_ —_ —_ 25,619
2,036 1,800 1,366 5,202 —
86,632 16,008 7,494 110,134 26,162
646,250 7,633 60,594 714,477 —
19,208 10,162 2,623 31,993 —
— 2,152 — 2,152 —
— — — — 27,305
11,308 3,996 846 16,150 —
676,766 23,943 64,063 764,772 27,305
8,800 406 391 9,597 —
772,198 40,357 71,948 884,503 53,467
963,999 152,847 7,457 1,124,303 41
70,252 1,027 9,261 80,540 —_
21,339 — — 21,339 —
59,521 29,222 22,589 111,332 8,645
$ 1,115,111 183,096 39,307 1,337,514 8,686
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Operating revenues:
Aviation revenues
Concessions
Water sales
Lease revenue
Parking, net
Charges for services
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Claims incurred
Premiums
Personnel services
Material and supplies
Purchased power
Contractual services
Miscellaneous
Depreciation
Interfund services used

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Intergovernmental revenue
Investment income (loss)

Interest expense

Passenger facility charges

Loss on disposal of capital assets
Miscellaneous, net

Total nonoperating revenues
(expenses), net

Income before transfers
and capital contributions, net

Transfers in
Transfers out
Capital contributions

Total transfers and capital
contributions, net

Change in net position
Net position — beginning of year

Net position — end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and
Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
Year ended June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Major funds — Enterprise funds

St. Louis

Lambert Total Internal
International Water Parking Enterprise Service
Airport Division Division Funds Funds
76,376 — — 76,376 —
28,820 — — 28,820 —
— 51,547 — 51,547 —
5,689 — — 5,689 —
23,379 — 17,936 41,315 —
— — — — 36,812
— 2,899 — 2,899 —
134,264 54,446 17,936 206,646 36,812
— — — — 24,405
_ _ _ — 4,040
37,322 17,139 5,945 60,406 315
4,679 11,260 260 16,199 4,996
— 3,737 — 3,737 —
38,093 7,185 1,280 46,558 —
84 2,027 1,887 3,998 —
59,012 6,273 2,905 68,190 14
2,731 2,415 128 5,274 —
141,921 50,036 12,405 204,362 33,770
(7,657) 4,410 5,531 2,284 3,042
826 — — 826 —
1,489 374 262 2,125 14)
(22,551) (328) (2,595) (25,474) —
28,510 — — 28,510 —
(103) 7 — (110) —
791 959 11 1,761 —
8,962 998 (2,322) 7,638 (14)
1,305 5,408 3,209 9,922 3,028
— — 1,011 1,011 —
(6,688) (3,122) (1,612) (11,422) —
20,508 — — 20,508 —
13,820 (3,122) (601) 10,097 —
15,125 2,286 2,608 20,019 3,028
1,099,986 180,810 36,699 1,317,495 5,658
1,115,111 183,096 39,307 1,337,514 8,686
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

Year ended June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers and users $
Other operating cash receipts
Payments to suppliers of goods and services
Payments to employees
(Payments)/receipts for interfund services used

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Interest paid on share of bond pension liability
Transfers from the State of Missouri
Transfers from other funds
Transfers to other funds

Net cash used in noncapital financing activities

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Cash collections from passenger facility charges
Receipts from federal financing assistance
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Proceeds from sale of surplus property
Principal paid on revenue bond maturities
Cash paid for interest
Other capital and financing activities

Net cash used in capital and related financing activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Investment income

Net cash used in investing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year:
Unrestricted
Restricted

End of year:
Unrestricted
Restricted

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net
Inventories
Prepaid assets
Other assets, net
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, accrued salaries, and other benefits
Claims payable
Unearned revenue and other deposits
Due to/from other funds
Advance to other funds
Customer deposits
Net pension liabilities
Other long term liabilities

Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities $

Supplemental disclosure for noncash activities:
Unrealized loss on investments $
Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets
Capital contribution
Capital assets in contracts and retainage payable

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Major funds — Enterprise funds

St. Louis
Lambert Total Internal
International Water Parking Enterprise Service
Airport Division Division Funds Funds
135,568 51,416 17,392 204,376 45,127
— — 500 500 —
(38,455) (21,465) (3,937) (63,857) (41,026)
(37,173) (17,200) (5,885) (60,258) (309)
(2,896) (3.546) — (6.442) —
57,044 9,205 8,070 74,319 3,792
— (275) — (275) —
— — 1,011 1,011 —
(6,688) (3,091) (1,612) (11,391) —
(6,688) (3,366) (595) (10,649) —
28,441 — — 28,441 —
12,648 — — 12,648 —
(25,844) (5,907) (659) (32,410) —
841 — — 841 —
(276,000) (422) (3,296) (279,718) —
(29,570) (127) (2,466) (32,163) —
— (977) — (977) —
(289,484) (7,433) (6,421) (303,338) —
(88,756) (49,742) (3,045) (141,543) (297)
69,552 37,459 2,056 109,067 64
3,133 364 235 3,732 —
(16,071) (11,919) (754) (28,744) (233)
(255,199) (13,513) 300 (268,412) 3,559
31,084 20,727 12,480 64,291 6,984
383,006 3,107 4,954 391,067 —
414,090 23,834 17,434 455,358 6,984
26,189 7,020 13,868 47,077 10,543
132,702 3,301 3,866 139,869 —
158,891 10,321 17,734 186,946 10,543
(7,657) 4,410 5,531 2,284 3,042
59,012 6,633 2,905 68,550 14
886 (2,671) 108 (1,677) (364)
(23) 213 — 190 —
— — — — (133)
(78) 1,164 41 1,127 —
4,579 (437) 206 4,348 268
— — — — (7,714)
783 44 (152) 675 —
(33) (317) (625) (975) 345
— — — — 8,334
— 106 — 106 —
17,742 60 145 17,947 —
(18,167) — (89) (18,256) —
64,701 4,795 2,539 72,035 750
57,044 9,205 8,070 74,319 3,792
(1,662) — 7 (1,679) —
— m 5 @ —
9,451 — — 9,451 —
7,244 - — 7,244 —



CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds

June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents — unrestricted
Cash and cash equivalents — restricted

Pension trust investments:
Fixed income securities
Domestic bond funds

Stocks

Mortgage-backed securities

Collective investment funds

Real estate equities and investment trust

Investment property

Hedge funds

Money market mutual funds and other short-term investments
Managed master limited partnership

Managed international equity funds

Total investments

Receivables, net of allowances:

Taxes

Contributions
Accrued interest

Other

Capital assets, net

Total assets

Deferred outflow of resources

System'’s staff pension related

Total deferred outflow of resources
Total assets and deferred outflow of resources

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Deposits held

for others

Due to other governmental agencies
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred inflow of resources

System'’s staff pension related

*See note 10.

Total deferred inflow of resources
Total liabilities and deferred inflow of resources
Net position

Net position restricted for pension benefits

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

Pension
Trust Funds
(as of
September 30,
2017%)

Agency
Funds

$ 12,024

124,322
90,435
666,263
22,149
335,072
197,258
882
196,435
63,141
240,919
193,611

34,172
45

2,130,487

1,091
2,049
1,049

818

19,445

716

2,147,518

54,378

631

631

2,148,149

54,378

1,890
632

1,994

12,026
15,336
27,016

4,516

54,378

23

23

4,539

54,378

$ 2,143,610
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Funds
Year ended June 30, 2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Additions:
Contributions:
Members
Employer

Investment income:
Interest and dividends
Class action lawsuit proceeds
Net appreciation in fair value of investments

Investment gain
Less investment expense

Net investment gain

Total additions

Deductions:
Benefits
Refunds of contributions
Administrative expense

Total deductions
Net increase

Net position restricted for pension benefits:
Beginning of year

End of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Pension
Trust Funds
(as of
September 30,
2017%)

$ 7,711

76,383

27,203
573
229,740

257,516
(10,651)

246,865

330,959

156,213
4,465
3,449

164,127

166,832

1,976,778

$ 2,143,610




CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Dollars in thousands)

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The City of St. Louis, Missouri (the City) is a constitutional charter city not a part of any county, which is
organized and exists under and pursuant to the constitution and laws of the State of Missouri (the State).
The City’s current form of government is provided for in its charter, which first became effective in 1914 and
has been subsequently amended by City voters. The City provides a wide range of municipal services as
follows: fire, police, and other public safety; parks and recreation; forestry; health, welfare, and other social
services; street maintenance; refuse collection; public services; community and economic development;
convention and tourism; and general administrative services. The City also owns and operates a water
utility, parking facilities, and an international airport as self-supporting enterprises.

The accounting policies and financial reporting practices of the City conform to U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles applicable to governmental entities. The following is a summary of the more
significant policies:

Reporting Entity

The City’s financial reporting entity has been determined in accordance with governmental standards for
defining the reporting entity and identifying entities to be included in its basic financial statements. The
City’s financial reporting entity consists of the City of St. Louis (also referred to as the Primary Government)
and its component units.

1) Blended Component Units

The component units discussed below are included in the City’s reporting entity due to the significance
of their operational or financial relationships with the City.

Public Facilities Protection Corporation (PFPC)

The PFPC is an internal service fund governed by a five-member board of persons in designated City
positions. The PFPC is reported as if it were part of the primary government because its sole purpose
is to provide the City with a defined and funded self-insurance program for claims, judgments, and
other related legal matters, including workers’ compensation.

St. Louis Municipal Finance Corporation (SLMFC)

The SLMFC, established in 1991, is governed by a five-member board, consisting of persons in
designated City positions. The SLMFC is reported as if it were part of the primary government because
its sole purpose is to lessen the burden on the City by financing, acquiring, leasing, or subleasing real
property, and improvement thereon, and personal property to the City.

St. Louis Parking Commission Finance Corporation (SLPCFC)

The SLPCFC, established in 2003, is governed by a five-member board as appointed by the Parking
Commission. The SLPCFC finances the purchase of and owns, leases, and sells certain real property
on behalf of the Parking Commission. SLPCFC is considered to be a component unit of the City
because the Parking Division of the City of St. Louis (the Parking Division) is financially accountable for
SLPCFC, as it appoints all of SLPCFC'’s directors and is able to impose its will on SLPCFC. The
SLPCFC provides services entirely to the Parking Division and is reported as if it were part of the

34 (Continued)



2)

3)

4)

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Dollars in thousands)

Parking Division because its sole purpose is to lessen the burden on the Parking Division by
coordinating real property transactions.

Discretely Presented Component Unit

The component unit column in the statement of net position and statement of activities include the
financial data of the City’s discretely presented component unit. This is reported individually to
emphasize that it is legally separate from the City.

St. Louis Development Corporation (SLDC)

The SLDC was organized in 1988 to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the economic
development activities of the City. SLDC combines the administrative staffs of seven independent
development agencies for the purpose of coordinating administrative services for all seven agencies.
The agencies that are considered component units of SLDC are the Land Reutilization Authority (LRA),
the Land Clearance for Redevelopment Authority (LCRA), the LCRA Holdings Corporation (LCRAH),
the St. Louis Industrial Development Authority (IDA), the Planned Industrial Expansion Authority
(PIEA), the Local Development Company (LDC), and the St. Louis Port Authority. SLDC is included as
a component unit of the City because the City is financially accountable for SLDC, as SLDC is fiscally
dependent upon the City. The City realizes a financial benefit through the development activity with
SLDC and the City subsidizes any deficit that SLDC has. SLDC is considered to be fiscally dependent
on the City because SLDC may not legally issue bonded debt or implement a budget for its
redevelopment activities until the City’s Board of Alderman has approved the redevelopment project
and declared the redevelopment area blighted.

Complete financial statements of the discretely presented component unit may be obtained from their
administrative offices as follows:

St. Louis Development Corporation
1520 Market Street, Suite 2000
St. Louis, Missouri 63103

Related Organizations

The City’s officials are also responsible for appointing the voting majority of board members for other
organizations, but the City’s accountability for these organizations do not extend beyond making the
appointments. Thus, no financial data for these organizations are included in the City’s basic financial
statements. These related organizations include the Mental Health Board, the St. Louis Housing
Authority, the St. Louis Office for Mental Retardation & Developmental Disability Resources, Senior
Citizen Service Board and the St. Louis Public Library.

Joint Venture

St. Louis Regional Convention and Sports Complex Authority (Authority)

The Authority, established in 1990 as a separate legal entity by an Act of the Missouri State legislature,
is governed by an 11-member board of commissioners. The mayor of the City and the county executive
of St. Louis County, Missouri (the County) each appoint three members and the governor of the State
appoints the remaining five commissioners. The Authority is considered a joint venture of the City, the
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CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Dollars in thousands)

County, and the State because the three governments have entered into a contractual agreement with
the Authority to sponsor the issuance of convention facility bonds, to repay the facility bonds through
rental payments to the Authority, and to make annual preservation payments for facility maintenance
and renovations, all of which create an ongoing financial responsibility of the City. The Authority is
subject to joint control of the City, the County, and the State. Complete financial statements for the
Authority can be obtained from the Authority’s administrative offices at 901 North Broadway, St. Louis,
Missouri 63101.

5) Pension Trust Funds

Financial information for the pension trust funds has been included within the accompanying financial
statements as of September 30, 2017, which is the fiscal year end of the retirement plans, which falls
within the City’s current fiscal year end (also see note 10).

Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (that is, the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City and its component units. The
effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities, which
normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from
business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on charges for services. Likewise, the City is
reported separately from its legally separate component unit for which the City is financially accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function. Program revenues include: 1) charges for services to customers or applicants who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function, and
2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular function. Taxes, unrestricted interest earnings, gains, and other miscellaneous revenues not
properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Following the government-wide financial statements are separate financial statements for governmental
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. Fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide
financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. The City has determined that the general
fund, the redevelopment projects fund, the capital projects fund, and the grants fund are major
governmental funds. All other governmental funds are reported in one column labeled “Other Governmental
Funds”. The total fund balances for all governmental funds is reconciled to total net position for
governmental activities as shown on the statement of net position. The net change in fund balance for all
governmental funds is reconciled to the total change in net position as shown on the statement of activities
in the government-wide statements. The City has three enterprise funds (business-type activities): St. Louis
Lambert International Airport (the Airport), the Water Division of the City of St. Louis (the Water Division),
and the Parking Division. Each of these enterprise funds is a major fund within the fund financial
statements. Additionally, the City has four internal service funds (governmental activities): PFPC, mailroom
services, health and equipment services. All internal service fund activity is combined into a single column
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Notes to Basic Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Dollars in thousands)

on the proprietary fund statements, since major fund reporting requirements do not apply to internal service
funds.

The fund financial statements of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a
separate accounting entity with self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, deferred outflow of
resources, liabilities, deferred inflow of resources, fund balances/net position, revenues and expenditures,
or expenses. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon
the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. The
various funds are summarized by type in the basic financial statements. The following fund types are used
by the City:

1) Governmental Fund Types

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions are financed. The
acquisition, uses, and balances of the City’s expendable financial resources and the related liabilities
(except those accounted for in proprietary funds) are accounted for through governmental funds. The
measurement focus is upon determination of and changes in financial position rather than upon net
income.

The following are the City’s governmental major funds:

General Fund — The general fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for
all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Redevelopment Projects Fund — The redevelopment project fund is a special revenue fund that is
used to record activity related to tax increment financing districts, funding associated with state
subsidized redevelopment projects using super tax incrementing financing funds or Missouri
Downtown Economic Stimulus Act (MODESA) funding or other development pledged revenues.

Capital Projects Fund — The capital projects fund is used to account for financial resources to be
used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities, other than those financed by
proprietary funds. This fund accounts for acquisition or construction of capital improvements,
renovations, remodeling, and replacement for the City’s major capital projects.

Grants Fund — The grants fund is a special revenue fund that is used to account for the proceeds of
specific revenue sources (other than major capital projects) that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specific purposes. The grants fund accounts for the majority of the City’s federal
grant programs received from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services,

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, U.S. Department of Justice,

U.S. Department of Labor, U.S. Department of Transportation, and various other federal agencies.

The other governmental funds of the City are considered nonmajor. They are special revenue
funds, which account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specific purposes, and a debt service fund, which accounts for the accumulation of
resources for, and repayment of, general obligation long-term debt principal, interest, and related
costs.
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2) Proprietary Fund Types

Proprietary funds are used to account for activities that are similar to those found in the private sector.
The measurement focus is on the determination of net income and capital maintenance.

The following are the City’s proprietary fund types:

Enterprise — Enterprise funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in
a manner similar to private business enterprises — where the intent of the governing body is that
the costs (including depreciation) of operations are financed primarily through user charges.
Enterprise funds have been established for the Airport, the Water Division, and the Parking
Division. The Airport is used to account for the activities of the Airport. The principal services
provided are financed primarily through landing fees and terminal concession revenues. The Water
Division is used to account for sale of water to the general public and the operation of the water
delivery system. The Parking Division is used to account for the operation of public parking facilities
and parking meters. Each of the enterprise funds is a major fund in the fund financial statements.

Internal Service — Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of a government, or to
other governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis. An internal service fund has been established
for PFPC, mailroom services, health, and equipment service. The PFPC fund is used to account for
payment of workers’ compensation and various other claims against legal actions on behalf of
other funds. The mailroom services fund is used to account for mail-handling services provided to
other funds. The health fund is used to account for payment of health insurance claims for
participants. The equipment service fund is used for the purchase and distribution of fuel to various
city departments.

3) Fiduciary Fund Types

Trust and Agency — Trust and agency funds are used to account for assets held by the City in a trustee
capacity or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, or other governmental units. These
include pension trust funds and agency funds. Pension trust funds are accounted for and reported
similar to proprietary funds. The pension trust funds account for the Firemen’s Retirement System of
St. Louis (Firemen’s System), the Firefighters’ Retirement Plan (Firefighters’ Plan), the Police
Retirement System of St. Louis (Police System), and the Employees Retirement System of the City of
St. Louis (Employees System) pension benefits. Agency funds are accounted for using the accrual
basis of accounting. Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve
the measurement of results of operations. These funds account for activities of the collector of revenue,
property tax escrow, general insurance, bail bonds, license collector, circuit clerk, police, treasurer’s
office and other agency operations.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts
and reported in the basic financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the
measurements made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.
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The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund, pension trust fund, and discretely presented
component unit financial statements. Agency funds adhere to the accrual basis of accounting, and do not
have a measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as
revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon
as all eligibility requirements have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. At year-end, entries are recorded for financial reporting
purposes to reflect the modified accrual basis of accounting for governmental fund types, and the accrual
basis of accounting for the proprietary fund types, pension trust funds, and agency funds.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when both measurable and
available. The term “available” is defined as collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay the liabilities of the current period. For the City, available is defined as expected to be
received within 60 days of fiscal year-end, except for government grants, which is within 120 days of fiscal
year-end. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims
and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due (that is, matured).

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Nonexchange Transactions, groups nonexchange transactions into the following four classes, based
upon their principal characteristics: derived tax revenues, imposed nonexchange revenues, government
mandated nonexchange transactions, and voluntary nonexchange transactions.

The City recognizes assets from derived tax revenue transactions (such as city earnings and payroll taxes,
sales and utilities gross receipt taxes) in the period when the underlying exchange transaction on which the
tax is imposed occurs or when the assets are received, whichever occurs first. Revenues are recognized,
net of estimated refunds and estimated uncollectible amounts, in the same period that the assets are
recognized, provided that the underlying exchange transaction has occurred. Resources received in
advance are reported as unearned revenues until the period of the exchange.

The City recognizes assets from imposed nonexchange revenue transactions in the period when an
enforceable legal claim to the assets arises or when the resources are received, whichever occurs first.
Revenues are recognized in the period when the resources are required to be used for the first period that
use is permitted. The City recognizes revenues from property taxes, net of estimated refunds and
estimated uncollectible amounts, in the period for which the taxes are levied. Imposed nonexchange
revenues also include permits, court fines, and forfeitures.

Intergovernmental revenues, representing grants and assistance received from other governmental units,
are generally recognized as revenues in the period when all eligibility requirements, as defined by

GASB Statement No. 33, have been met. Any resources received before eligibility requirements are met
are reported as deferred inflows of resources.
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Charges for services in the governmental funds, which are exchange transactions and are, therefore, not
subject to the provisions of GASB Statement No. 33, are recognized as revenues when received in cash
because they are generally not measurable until actually received, with the exception of refuse charges.

Under the accrual basis of accounting used by the proprietary fund types and pension trust funds, revenues
are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. Unbilled service revenues are
accrued by the Airport and the Water Division based on estimated billings for services provided through the
end of the current fiscal year.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
Airport enterprise fund are revenues from airlines, concessions, and parking. Transactions that are capital,
financing, or investing related are reported as nonoperating revenues. The principal operating revenues of
the Water Division enterprise fund, the Parking Division enterprise fund, and internal service funds are
charges to customers for sales and services. All expenses related to operating the Airport enterprise fund
are reported as operating expenses. Interest expense, financing costs, and miscellaneous expenses are
reported as nonoperating expenses. Operating expenses for the Water Division enterprise fund, the
Parking Division enterprise fund, and internal service funds include the cost of sales and services,
administrative expenses, and depreciation and amortization. All revenues and expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted
resources first and then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

For the pension trust funds, under the accrual basis of accounting, contributions are recognized in the
period in which the contributions are due and benefits are recognized when they become due and payable.

Property Taxes

Taxes are levied annually in November based on the assessed valuation of all real and personal property
located in the City as of the previous January 1 and use is first permitted the following fiscal year. The City
tax rate levied in November 2017 was $1.5933 per $100 (in dollars) of assessed valuation of which $1.46
(in dollars) is for the general fund and $0.1333 (in dollars) is for the debt service fund. Taxes are billed in
November and are due and collectible on December 31. All unpaid taxes become delinquent on January 1
of the following year and attach as an enforceable lien on the related property at that date.

Cash and Investments

The City Treasurer maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds, including
certain component units, except pension trust funds. In accordance with the City’s budget ordinance the
majority of investment income is considered earned by the general fund except for earnings otherwise
legally restricted for a specific purpose. Income from investments associated with one fund is not assigned
to another fund for other than legal or contractual reasons. In addition, cash and investments are
separately maintained by other City officials, several of the City’s departments and third-party trustee and
fiscal agents.
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Investments are recorded at fair value. Fair values for investments are determined by closing market prices
at year-end, based on quotations from national security exchanges or by using other observable inputs as
reported by the respective investment custodian.

The City invests in various investments. Investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate,
market, and credit risks. Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is at least
reasonably possible that changes in the fair values of investments will occur in the near term and that such
changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the accompanying financial statements.

Inventories

Inventories are recorded at cost using a method that approximates the first-in, first-out method or the
moving average cost method, and the expense is recognized when inventories are consumed in
operations.

Capital Assets
1) Governmental Activities Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include buildings, improvements, equipment, and infrastructure assets (for
example, roads, bridges, docks, promenade, traffic signals, and similar items), are reported in the
governmental activities column in the government-wide financial statements, net of accumulated
depreciation. Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an estimated useful life in excess of
one year with an initial, individual cost of $5 or more, infrastructure with a cost of $500 or more, building
improvements with a cost of $100 or more, and all land, land improvements, and buildings.

Purchased or constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. Donated
capital assets are recorded at their acquisition value at the date of donation. General infrastructure
assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001 consist of the road network and other infrastructure assets that
were acquired or that received substantial improvements subsequent to June 30, 1980 and are
reported at estimated historical cost using deflated replacement cost. The costs of normal maintenance
and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend the assets’ lives are not
capitalized.

The City has determined that all works of art and historical treasures other than the City’s statues,

monuments, and fountains meet the definition of a collection, and accordingly, has not capitalized

these assets. A collection is defined as:

e Held for public exhibition and education

e Protected, cared for, and preserved

e Subject to an organizational policy that requires the proceeds from the sale to be used to acquire
other items for the collection.

The City has adopted a policy related to the sale of these assets, stating that the proceeds from the
sale of any City-owned collections, in part or in its entirety, will be used for the acquisition of collection
items.
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All City-owned statues, monuments, and fountains are capitalized at their historic cost based upon
original acquisition, construction documents, or estimates of original costs. Donated items are reported
at acquisition value. Because of the nature of these assets and the manner in which the City maintains
its historic treasures, these assets are considered inexhaustible, and therefore, are not subject to
depreciation.

Depreciation, including depreciation recognized on assets acquired through government grants and
other aid, is computed on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the various classes
of assets, except for roads, which is computed using the composite method. The estimated useful lives
of depreciable capital assets are as follows:

Years
Buildings 40 to 99
Improvements other than buildings 3to 40
Equipment 3to 20
Police automotive equipment 3to 15
Infrastructure 18 to 50
Intangibles 3to 10

City management has evaluated prominent events or changes in circumstances affecting capital assets
to determine whether any impairments of capital assets have occurred. Such events or changes in
circumstances that were considered by the City management to be indicative of impairment include
evidence of physical damage, enactment or approval of laws or regulations or other changes in
environmental factors, technological changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manner or
duration of use of a capital asset, and construction stoppage.

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets

Capital assets for the Airport, the Water Division, the Parking Division, and the mailroom are reported
in the business-type activities column in the government-wide financial statements, net of accumulated
depreciation.

42 (Continued)



3)

4)

CITY OF ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI
Notes to Basic Financial Statements
June 30, 2018
(Dollars in thousands)

Airport

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost. Depreciation, including depreciation recognized on
assets acquired through government grants and other aid, is computed on the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets. Land is recorded at cost, which, in addition
to the purchase price, includes appraisal and legal fees, demolition, and homeowner relocation costs.
Net interest costs on funds borrowed to finance the construction of capital assets are capitalized and
amortized over the life of the related asset. The estimated useful lives of capital assets are as follows:

Years
Pavings 5to 30
Buildings and facilities 5to 30
Equipment 3to 20

Water Division

Capital assets were originally recorded in the accounts in 1958 and were based on an engineering
study of the historical cost of properties constructed by employees of the Water Division. Accumulated
depreciation, at the date the assets were recorded, was established after a review by a consulting firm.

Additions to capital assets subsequent to 1958 are recorded at historical cost. Provisions for
depreciation of the capital assets are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the assets and are charged to operating expenses. The estimated useful lives of depreciable assets
are as follows:

Years
Buildings and structures 44 to 55
Pumping equipment 28 to 44
Hydrants, transmission mains and lines 50 to 100
Meters 33
Other equipment 5to 25

Net interest costs on funds borrowed to finance the construction are capitalized and depreciated over
the life of the related asset.
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Parking Division

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost, including applicable interest incurred during the
construction period. Donated capital assets are recorded at their acquisition market value at the date of
donation. The contributions are reflected as capital contributions. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets. The estimated
useful lives of assets for depreciable capital assets are as follows:

Years

Buildings, land improvements, and parking
garages 510 40
Equipment 5to 15
Parking meters and lot equipment 5to 10

Nondepreciable assets include land.

Mailroom

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets. The estimated useful life of equipment,
other than computer equipment, is 10 years. The estimated useful life of computer equipment is

5 years.

Component Unit — SLDC

SLDC'’s property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure with useful lives of more than one year are stated
at historical cost. Historically, SLDC has maintained infrastructure asset records consistent with all
other capital assets. SLDC generally capitalizes assets with costs of $2,500 (in dollars) or more as
purchase and construction outlays occur. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add
to the asset value or materially extend useful lives are not capitalized. Capital assets are depreciated
using the straight-line method. When capital assets are disposed, the cost and applicable accumulated
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is recorded in
operations. Estimated useful lives, in years, for depreciable assets are generally treated as follows:

Years
Leasehold improvements 40
Parking facilities (includes infrastructure) 3to 40
Equipment 3to 10
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Long-Term Liabilities

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements,
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position/statement of fund net
position.

Pensions

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions — an
amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, the net pension liability, deferred outflow of resources, deferred
inflow of resources and pension expense have been recognized in the financial statements.

The net pension liability is calculated as the difference between the actuarially calculated value of the
projected benefit payments attributed to past periods of service and the plans’ fiduciary net position. The
total pension expense is comprised of the service cost or actuarial present value of projected benefit
payments attributed to the valuation year, interest on the total pension liability, plan administrative
expenses, current year benefit changes, and other changes in plan fiduciary net position less employee
contributions and projected earnings on plan investments. Additionally, the total pension expense includes
the annual recognition of outflow and inflow of resources due to pension assets and liabilities.

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflow of resources, deferred inflow of
resources, pension expense and expenditures associated with the City’s contribution requirements,
information about the fiduciary net position of the retirement plans, and addition to/deductions from the
retirement plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported within
the separately issued retirement plans’ financial statements. For this purpose, benefit payments (including
refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with terms of the
plan. Investments are reported at fair value.

Passenger Facility Charges (PFCs)

The Airport collects a $4.50 (in dollars) facility charge per enplaned passenger to fund approved Federal
Aviation Administration (FAA) projects. The PFCs are withheld by the respective airlines for each ticket
purchased and passenger transfer made in St. Louis and remitted to the Airport one month after the month
of receipt, less an $0.11 (in dollars) per ticket operating fee retained by the airlines. PFCs represent an
exchange-like transaction and are recognized as nonoperating revenue based upon passenger
enplanements. Passenger facility charges receivable as of June 30, 2018 were $2,292. This amount was
collected during July and August 2018.

Capital Contributions

Capital contributions to the proprietary fund type represent government grants and other aid used to fund
capital projects. Capital contributions are recognized as revenue when the expenditure is made and
amounts become subject to claim for reimbursement. Amounts received from other governments by the
proprietary fund type, which are not restricted for capital purposes, are reflected as nonoperating
intergovernmental revenue.
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Capitalization of Interest

Net interest costs on funds borrowed to finance the construction of capital assets are capitalized and
depreciated over the life of the related asset for business-type activities and proprietary fund types. Interest
is not capitalized for governmental activities or governmental fund types.

Bond Premiums, Discounts, and Issuance Costs

In government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements,
bond discounts are recorded as a reduction of the debt obligation and bond premiums are recorded as an
addition to the debt obligation. Such amounts are amortized using the interest method or
bonds-outstanding method over the term of the related revenue bonds. Bond issuance costs are
recognized as an outflow of resources and expensed rather than amortized.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources, while
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld
from the actual debt proceeds received, are included in interest expense when incurred.

Deferred Inflow/Outflow of Resources

A deferred inflow of resources is defined as an acquisition of net position by the government that is
applicable to a future reporting period and a deferred outflow of resources is defined as a consumption of
net position by the government that is applicable to a future reporting period. A deferred inflow of resources
has a negative impact on net position similar to liabilities but is required to be reported within the statement
of net position in a separate section following liabilities and the total may be added to the total for liabilities.
A deferred outflow of resources has a positive effect on net position similar to assets but is required to be
reported in the statement of net position in a separate section following assets and the total may be added
to the total for assets.

Deferred outflow/inflow of resources include 1) unamortized losses/gains on bond refundings, which are
deferred and amortized over the shorter of the remaining life of the old debt or the life of the new debt,

2) contributions made to retirement plans after the pension liability measurement date, and 3) various other
pension and OPEB related amounts (see note 10 and 11).
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As of June 30, 2018, deferred outflow/inflow of resources consist of the following:

Deferred outflow of resources:
Pension related:

FRS $ 10,047
FRP 18,426
PRS 46,556
ERS 20,148
Loss on bond defeasance/refunding 23,626
$ 118,803

Deferred inflow of resources:
Pension related:

FRS $ 31,819
FRP 21,162
PRS 45,445
ERS 4,044
OPEB 16,923
Gain on bond defeasance/refunding 3,318
$ 122,711

Vacation and Sick Leave

The vacation and sick policy for all departments of the City, except the police department are as follows:

The City grants vacation to full-time and part-time employees who work 50% of full-time or more based
on years of continuous service. The entire accrued benefit liability related to the City’s vacation and sick
leave has been recorded in the government-wide financial statements and in the proprietary funds in the
fund financial statements. Amounts have been recorded in the governmental fund financial statements as
part of accrued salaries and other benefits, since such amounts came due (that is, matured) during the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

Nonuniformed employees retiring after June 30, 2001 who have an unused sick leave balance may, at
retirement, elect to receive payment for one-half of the sick leave balance. As an estimate of the portion of
sick leave that will result in termination payments, a liability has been recorded on the government-wide
financial statements and the proprietary funds in the fund financial statements representing one-half of the
accumulated sick leave balance for those employees who will be eligible to retire within five years.

The vacation and sick leave policy for the employees of the police department are as follows:

Vacation and designated holiday pay is granted to full-time employees based on years of continuous
service and will be paid to employees upon resignation, retirement, or death.
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Both commissioned and civilian employees accumulate sick leave hours and will be paid a minimum of
25% of their unused sick leave upon termination of employment. The liability for accrued sick leave pay has
been calculated using the vesting method. Commissioned and civilian employees retiring from St. Louis
Police Department (SLPD) with 1600+ hours of sick leave accrued and 20+ years of service will be paid
25% of their unused sick leave plus one additional month’s salary. Commissioned employees retiring from
SLPD with 2200+ hours of sick leave accrued and 30+ years of service will be paid 50% of their unused
sick leave. Civilian employees retiring from SLPD with 2200+ hours of sick leave accrued and who have 85
points (years of service plus age) or reached age 65 will be paid 50% of their unused sick leave.

Effective June 30, 2017, at point of termination all benefit payouts for commissioned employees are paid
out immediately. Effective June 30, 2016, at point of termination all benefits payouts for civilian employees
are paid out at termination unless a retiring civilian employee elects to have their sick leave paid out in
accordance with administrative regulation 140, which permits an employee to receive four (4) equal
payments occurring every six (6) months for two (2) years following retirement from active service.

Interfund Transactions
In the fund financial statements, the City has the following types of transactions among funds:

1) Transfers
Legally authorized transfers are reported when incurred as transfers in by the recipient fund and as
transfers out by the disbursing fund.

2) Interfund Services Provided/Used

Charges or collections for services rendered by one fund for another are recognized as revenues
(interfund services provided) of the recipient fund and expenditures or expenses (interfund services
used) of the disbursing fund. These transactions are recorded as interfund services because they
would be treated as revenues and expenditures or expenses if they involved organizations external to
the City.

Within the accompanying activity from the statement of activities, interfund services provided and used are
not eliminated from the various functional categories. Transfers are eliminated from the various functional
categories.

Certain internal payments are treated as program revenues, such as internal services provided and used.
Certain internal payments are treated as a reduction of expense, such as reimbursements.

Fund Balance Designation

In the governmental fund financial statements the City maintains nonspendable, restricted, committed,
assigned, and unassigned fund balances.

Within the fund financial statements, the fund balance is reported as follows:

o Nonspendable: This consists of resources not in spendable form or are legally or contractually required
to remain intact.
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e Restricted: This consists of amounts that can be spent only for the specific purpose stipulated by
constitution, external parties (e.g., grantors, creditors, or other governments), or enabling legislation.

¢ Committed: This consists of amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to formal
action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. Committed amounts cannot be
used for any other purpose unless the government removes or changes the specified use by taking the
same type of action it employed to previously commit these amounts. Committed balances are
classified as such as a result of the City of St. Louis Board of Aldermen taking formal action and
adopting an ordinance, which can only be modified or rescinded by a subsequent formal action.

e Assigned: This consists of amounts constrained by the government’s intent to be used for specific
purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. Per City policy, assigned balances are a result of
the Board of Estimate and Apportionment approval and authorization of projects or actions prior to
July 1, 2018.

e Unassigned: This consists of residual fund balances that do not meet the criteria of nonspendable,
restricted, committed, or assigned. The General Fund is the only fund that reports a positive
unassigned fund balance amount. Other governmental funds besides the General Fund can only report
negative unassigned fund balance amount.

The City’s policy is to apply expenditures to restricted resources first, then committed, then assigned, and
unassigned, respectively, as applicable.
Net Position

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, equity is displayed in three components
as follows:

1) Net Investment in Capital Assets

This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, less the outstanding balances of any
bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition and construction of those
assets.

2) Restricted

This consists of net position that are legally restricted by outside parties or by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. Net position restricted by statutory restrictions represents tax and
other revenue sources that are required by statute to be expended only for a specific purpose or
purposes.

3) Unrestricted

This consists of net position that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “invested in capital assets.”

Statements of Cash Flows

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as all highly liquid
investments (including restricted assets) with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the basic financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, and expenditures during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Individual Fund Deficit

At June 30, 2018, the Mailroom Services and Equipment Services internal service funds have deficit net
position balance of $13 and $28, respectively. These amounts will be offset by future charges for services.
At June 30, 2018, the Assessor’s Office nonmajor governmental fund has a deficit fund balance of $67.
This amount will be offset by future taxes.

Current Adoption of GASB Statements

As of July 1, 2017, the City adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 75 entitled “Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions” to improve accounting and
financial reporting by state and local governments for postemployment benefits other than pensions (other
postemployment benefits or OPEB). As part of GASB Statement No. 75, the City changed the accounting
for its total OPEB liability and presents related deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflow of
resources in its statement of net position.

To record the cumulative effect of implementing the change in accounting principles, the City has made an
adjustment to its net position as of June 30, 2017 to include amounts for the total OPEB liability and other
deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflow of resources. The previously stated governmental
activities net position balance has been adjusted as follows:

Net position, June 30, 2017, as previously reported $ (670,995)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (257,756)
Net position, July 1, 2017, as adjusted $ (928,751)

GASB Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, is to improve accounting and financial
reporting for irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing recognition and measurement guidance for
situations in which a government is a beneficiary of the agreement. The requirements of this statement are
effective for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and should be applied
retroactively. The requirements of this statement are effective for the City for the year ended June 30,
2018, and had no effect on the City’s financial statements.
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GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus — The objective of this is to improve consistency in accounting and
financial reporting by addressing practice issues that have been identified during implementation and
application of certain GASB statements. The Statement establishes reporting requirements for blending
component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and postemployment benefits. The
requirements of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15,
2017. The requirements of this statement are effective for the City for the year ended June 30, 2018, and
had an immaterial effect on the City’s financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues — The primary objective of this Statement is
to improve consistency in accounting and financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by
providing guidance for transactions in which cash and other monetary assets acquired with only existing
resources — resources other than the proceeds of refunding debt — are placed in an irrevocable trust for the
sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement also improves accounting and financial reporting for
prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial statements for debt that is defeased in
substance. The requirements of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning
after June 15, 2017. The requirements of this statement are effective for the City for the year ended

June 30, 2018, and had no effect on the City’s financial statements.

Deposits and Investments

(a) Primary Government
The following is a reconciliation of the City’s deposit and investment balances as of June 30, 2018:
As the investment strategies and associated risks for the Firemen’s System, the Firefighters’ Plan, the
Police System, and the Employees System are substantially different than those of the remainder of
the primary government, the deposit and investment disclosures for the Firemen’s System, Firefighters’

Plan, Police System, and Employees System are presented separately from those of the remainder of
the primary government.

Cash and
cash Restricted Restricted
equivalents  Investments cash investments Total
Government-wide statement of
net position $ 149,154 151,212 180,589 142,018 622,973
Fiduciary statement of fiduciary
net position — agency funds 34,172 — 45 — 34,217
Total primary
government
excluding
pension trust
funds 183,326 151,212 180,634 142,018 657,190
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Cash and
cash Restricted Restricted
equivalents  Investments cash investments Total
Fiduciary statement of fiduciary
net position — pension trust
funds:
Firemen’s System $ 4,096 484,383 — — 488,479
Firefighter's Plan 32 60,566 — — 60,598
Police System 7,739 769,331 — — 777,070
Employees System 157 816,207 — — 816,364
Total pension
trust funds 12,024 2,130,487 — — 2,142,511
Total primary
government $ 195,350 2,281,699 180,634 142,018 2,799,701

1) Primary Government Excluding Pension Trust Funds

Investments are recorded at fair value. Fair value for investments is determined by closing market
prices at year-end, as reported by the respective investment custodian or by using other
observable inputs as reported by the respective investment custodian.

Certificates of deposit are defined as investments for statement of net position/balance
sheet/statement of fund net position classification and cash flow purposes; for custodial risk
disclosure; however, they are described below as cash deposits. In addition, money market mutual
funds are classified as cash on the statement of net position /balance sheet/statement of fund net
position, but as investments for custodial risk disclosure.

As of June 30, 2018, the primary government (excluding the pension trust funds) had the following
cash deposits and investments:

Federal National Mortgage Association $ 34,530
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. 14,344
Federal Home Loan Bank 36,938
United States Treasuries 221,132
International bank notes 18,965
Commercial paper 61,947
Money market mutual funds 58,746
Certificates of deposit 10,176
Other cash deposits 200,412

$ 657,190
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State statutes and City investment policies authorize the deposit of funds in financial institutions
and trust companies. Investments may be made in obligations of the U.S. Government or any
agency or instrumentality thereof; bonds of the State, the City, or any city within the state with a
population of 400,000 inhabitants or more; or time certificates of deposit. In addition, the City may
enter into repurchase agreements maturing and becoming payable within 90 days secured by
U.S. Treasury obligations or obligations of the U.S. Government agencies or instrumentalities of
any maturity as provided by law. City funds in the form of cash on deposit or time certificates of
deposit are required to be insured or collateralized by authorized investments held in the City’s
name.

Additionally, the City’s indentures with its bond trustees also permit City bond proceeds to be
invested in commercial paper having an original maturity of 270 days or less and rated “A-I” or
better by Standard & Poor’s Corporation and “P-I” by Moody’s Investors Service, money market
funds rated “AAAM” or “AAAM-G” by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, and other obligations fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by the U.S. Government. These investments, while permitted by the
indentures with the bond trustees, are not permitted by the Investment Policy for the City of St.
Louis, Missouri (Investment Policy).

Fair Value Measurements

The City applies the provisions of GASB Statement No. 72 for the fair value measurements of
financial assets and financial liabilities and for the fair value measurements of nonfinancial items
that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis.
GASB Statement No. 72 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the
lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).
The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets that the
entity has the ability to access at the measurement date. Level 1 investments include
U.S. treasury obligations.

e Level 2 inputs are observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar
assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of
the asset or liabilities. Level 2 investments include commercial paper, bank notes, money
market mutual funds, certificates of deposit and U.S. government agency obligations.

e Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs for the asset. The City had no Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2018.
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The following table presents assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30,

2018:
Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
U.S. government agency
obligation $ 85,812 — 85,812 —
United States Treasuries 221,132 221,132 — —
International bank notes 18,965 — 18,965 —
Commercial paper 61,947 — 61,947 —
Certificates of deposit 10,176 — 10,176 —
Money market mutual funds 58,746 — 58,746 —
$ 456,778 221,132 235,646 —

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of investments will be adversely affected by a change
in interest rates. The City seeks to minimize its exposure to fair value losses arising from changes
in interest rates by selecting investments in adherence to the Investment Policy. The Investment
Policy provides that, to the extent possible, the City shall attempt to match its investments with
anticipated cash flow requirements. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the City will not directly
invest in securities or make a time deposit with a stated maturity or more than five years from the
date of purchase. The average maturity for collateral provided to the City for deposits in connection
with a repurchase agreement shall not exceed five years without the written approval of the
Treasurer. In connection with any outstanding bond issue, debt service reserve funds may be

invested to a maximum maturity of the bond issue.
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The investments of the primary government (excluding the pension trust funds) had the following
maturities on June 30, 2018:

Federal National Mortgage

Association
Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corp.

Federal Home Loan Bank
United States Treasuries

International bank notes
Commercial paper
Certificates of deposit

Money market mutual funds

Credit Risk

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair value Lessthan1 1-5 6-10 More than 10

$ 34,530 11,122 23,408 — —
14,344 6,988 7,356 — —
36,938 36,938 — — —
221,132 133,811 87,321 — —
18,965 — 18,965 — —
61,947 61,947 — — —
10,176 10,176 — — _
58,746 58,746 — — _

$ 456,778 319,728 137,050 — —

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The Investment Policy provides that investments of the City be rated in one of the three
highest ratings categories by Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s Corporation, or Fitch’s

Ratings Service.

The investments of the primary government (excluding the pension trust funds) were rated as
follows by Moody’s Investors Service, Standard & Poor’s Corporation, or Fitch’s Ratings Service as

of June 30, 2018:

Federal National Mortgage
Association

Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corp.

Federal Home Loan Bank

United States Treasuries*

International bank notes

Commercial paper

Certificates of deposit

Money market mutual funds

Fair value AAA A-1+ AA+ A-1 Not rated
34,530 — — 34,530 — —
14,344 — — 14,344 — —
36,938 — — 25,564 — 11,374

221,132 — — 49,790 — 171,342
18,965 18,965 — — — —
61,947 — — — 51,942 10,005
10,176 10,126 - — - 50
58,746 3,866 — — — 54,880

456,778 32,957 — 124,228 51,942 247,651

*  The City’s investments in United States Treasuries are explicitly guaranteed by the United
States government and therefore do not require a rating.
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Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a counterparty, the City will not be
able to recover the value of the investments, collateral securities, or deposits that are in the
possession of the counterparty. Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of the investments or collateral securities
that are in the possession of the counterparty.

The Investment Policy requires that all cash deposits, time certificates of deposit, deposits with
listed institutions, and repurchase agreements be covered by adequate pledged collateral.
Acceptable collateral includes U.S. Treasury obligations, other interest-bearing securities
guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States or an agency or instrumentality of the
United States, bonds of the State, or bonds of the City. The market value of the principal and
accrued interest of the collateral must equal 103% of the deposits secured, less any amount
subject to federal deposit insurance. All City securities and securities pledged as collateral must be
held in a segregated account on behalf of the City by an independent third party with whom the City
has a current custodial agreement and has been designated by the Treasurer and Funds
Committee as eligible to serve in such a capacity.

At June 30, 2018, the following City investments are held by the counterparty’s trust department or
agent, and are not in the City’s name: $1,679 of Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
securities, $8,513 Federal Home Loan Bank securities, and $32,472 of United States Treasury
Notes. All remaining City investments and collateral securities pledged against City deposits are
held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the City’s name.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Investment Policy provides that, with the exception of U.S. Treasury Securities and Other
Cash Deposits, no more than 50% of the City’s total investment portfolio will be invested in a single
security type or with a single financial institution.

At June 30, 2018, the concentration of the City’s deposits and investments was as follows:

Federal National Mortgage Association 5.25 %
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. 2.18
Federal Home Loan Bank 5.62
United States Treasuries 33.65
International bank notes 2.89
Commercial paper 9.43
Money market mutual funds 8.94
Certificates of deposit 1.55
Other cash deposits 30.49
100.00 %
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2) Primary Government — Pension Trust Fund — Firemen’s System

As of September 30, 2017, the Firemen’s System had the following cash deposits and investments:

Common stock $ 195,552
Collective investment — equity 33,699
Limited partnership units 17,808
Hedge funds — equity 83,539
Collective investment — bonds 78,928
Fixed income securities 13,079
Domestic bond funds 4,262
Mortgage-backed securities 1,992
Real estate investment trust 45,673
Money market funds 9,851
Other cash deposits 4,096

$ 488,479

Investments are stated at fair value. Fair values are based on the last reported sales price on
September 30 or on the last reported bid price if no sale was made on that date. Certain
investments are recorded at net asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient or at fair value per
investment managers. The Firemen’s System cash deposits are collateralized with securities held
by the pledging financial institution in the Firemen’s Systems name.

Fair Value Measurement and Application. GASB No. 72 was issued to address accounting and
financial and reporting issues related to fair value measurements. The Firemen’s System
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Firemen’s System has the
following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30, 2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investments, at fair value:

Corporate stocks:

Domestic $ 125,696 — — 125,696

International 69,856 — — 69,856
Collective investment funds —

government bonds, agencies,

and mortgaged-backed securities — 5,296 — 5,296
Fixed income securities

Domestic — 13,079 — 13,079
Collective investment funds —

international equity 33,699 — — 33,699
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Collective investment funds —
domestic fixed income $ — 73,632 — 73,632
Domestic bond funds — 4,262 — 4,262
Mortgage-backed securities — 1,992 — 1,992
Money market mutual funds 9,851 — — 9,851
Total investments $ 239,102 98,261 — 337,363

Investments measured at net asset
value (NAV):

Hedge funds 83,539
Real estate investment trust 45,673
Limited partnership units 17,808

Total investments
measured at NAV 147,020

Total investments
measured at fair value $ 484,383

For the investments measured at NAV at September 30, 2017:

e There were no unfunded purchase commitments.
o Redemption frequency, when currently eligible, is quarterly.
¢ Notice period for redemptions is 1 to 90 days.

The Firemen’s System’s investments are continuously exposed to various types of inherent risks.
These risks are mitigated by the Firemen’s System’s development and continual monitoring of
sound investment policies. The investment maturities, credit rating by investment, and foreign
currency exposures by asset class schedules are presented to provide an illustration of the
Firemen’s System’s current level of exposure to various risks.

The following schedule provides a summary of the fixed income investment maturities by
investment category, which helps demonstrate the current level of interest rate risk assumed by the
Firemen’s System as of September 30, 2017:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10
Collective investment — bonds $ 78,928 4,554 15,854 31,328 27,192
Fixed income securities 13,079 — 6,975 3,844 2,260
Domestic bond funds 4,262 — 2,829 1,116 317
Mortgage-backed securities 1,992 — — — 1,992
$ 98,261 4,554 25,658 36,288 31,761
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The Firemen’s System’s fixed income investments level of exposure to credit risk, or the risk that
an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations, is demonstrated by the
following table as of September 30, 2017:

Collective Fixed Domestic Mortgage-
Credit rating Total investment income bond backed

AAA $ 35,189 32,451 — 2,738 —
AA 7,383 2,191 1,676 1,524 1,992
A 17,873 9,268 8,605 — —
BBB 24,854 22,457 2,397 — —
BB 7,027 7,027 — — —
B 4,698 4,698 — — —
Not rated 1,237 836 401 — —
$ 98,261 78,928 13,079 4,262 1,992

Certain collective investment funds are classified by average credit rating levels of the portfolios.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value
of an investment. The Firemen’s System’s policy is to allow the individual investment managers to
decide what action to take regarding their respective portfolio’s foreign currency exposure. The
following table demonstrates the Firemen’s System’s current level of foreign currency exposure as
of September 30, 2017:

Limited Real estate
Money Fixed Hedge Partnership investment
market Equities income fund Units trust Total
Australian Dollar $ — 2,159 — — — — 2,159
British Pound Sterling — 8,603 — — — — 8,603
Canadian Dollar — 651 — — — — 651
Danish Krone — 1,728 — — — — 1,728
Euro — 32,767 — — — — 32,767
Hong Kong Dollar — 2,615 — — — — 2,615
Japanese Yen — 8,238 — — — — 8,238
Singapore Dollar — — — — — — —
South Korean Won — 2,283 — — — — 2,283
Sw edish Krona — 347 — — — — 347
Swiss Franc — 4,790 — — — — 4,790
Total foreign
currency — 64,181 — — — — 64,181
U.S. Dollar 9,851 165,070 98,261 83,539 17,808 45,673 420,202
Total $ 9,851 229,251 98,261 83,539 17,808 45,673 484,383
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Custodial credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The Firemen’s System’s minimum credit quality rating for each issue shall be “BBB” (or
its equivalent) at the time of purchase. In the event of a split-rating, the higher rating shall apply.
The fixed income portfolio should have an average quality rating of at least “A” (or its equivalent).
Commercial paper issues must be rated at least “Al” (or its equivalent) at the time of purchase. In
the event of a split-rating, the higher rating shall apply. In the event of a downgrade below
investment grade by any rating agency, the investment manager is required to notify the Board and
investment consultant as soon as possible and to refrain from any further investment in the
downgraded issue.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest
rate changes. The effective duration of any fixed income portfolio shall not exceed 120% of the
effective duration of the investment manager’s broad market benchmark.

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Firemen’s System’s
investment in a single issuer. The Firemen’s System’s policy does not allow the concentration per
issuer to exceed 5% of the portfolio’s market value at cost, with the exception of cash, cash
equivalents, U.S. Treasury, or U.S. Agency securities. Furthermore, the investment manager may
not hold more than 5% of the outstanding shares of any single issuer with exception of

U.S. Treasuries or Agencies. Investment in any single fund of hedge funds shall not exceed 10% of
the fund’s market value. It is the Firemen’s System’s policy to invest in each asset class ranging
between a minimum and maximum as shown below:

Asset class as a percent of total assets
Asset class Minimum Target mix Maximum

Domestic equity:

Large cap 13 % 18 % 23 %

Small cap 3 8 13
International equities 19 24 29
Fixed income 20 25 30
Real estate trust 10 15 20
Hedge fund 5 10 15
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Long-term expected rate of return on the plan investments was determined using a building-block
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected
future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the
system’s target asset allocation as of September 30, 2017 are summarized in the following table:

Long-term

expected real

Asset class rate of return

Domestic equity 4.3 %
International equities 4.7
Fixed income (1.3)
Real estate trust (REIT) 4.8
Hedge fund 2.2
Private equity (partnerships) 9.4

The above long-term expected real rate of returns represents best estimates of geometric rates of
return for each major asset class included. These rates of return are shown net of inflation
(assumed at 2.75%) and net of investment expenses (assumed at 0.5%).

Liquidity risk is the risk that redemption notice periods are required and longer periods may be
imposed before payment of redemption proceeds are settled for the following investments:

AJO, LP (Hedge Fund)

EnTrust Capital Diversified Fund QP, Ltd. (Hedge Fund)
Magnitude Institutional, LLC Class A (Hedge Fund)

The Principle U.S. Property Account (REIT)

Investments that exceed 5% or more of net assets held in trust for pension benefits for the
Firemen’s System at September 30, 2017 are as follows:

The Principal U.S. Property Account (REIT) $ 45,673
Mackay Shields Core Plus Opportunities Portfolio 37,865
Prudential Core Plus Bond Fund 35,768
AJO Emerging Markets All-Cap Offshore Fund, Ltd. 34,436
Acadian International Small Cap Fund 33,699
Magnitude Institutional, LLC Class A Hedge Fund 26,836
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The Firemen’s System participates in securities lending programs in order to enhance investment
yield. In a securities lending transaction, the Firemen’s System transfers possession — but not title
— of the security to the borrower. Borrowers shall be rated AA, A, or higher by Moody’s or Standard
& Poor’s. Collateral consisting of cash, letter of credit, U.S. government or agency securities, or
floating rate notes of U.S. issuers is received and held by a financial institution. The collateral
maintained is at least 102% of loan value for domestic securities and 105% of loan value for
international securities of the market value of the securities lent. The Firemen’s System maintains
all the rights in the collateral of a secured lender under the Uniform Commercial Code. The
Firemen’s System continues to earn income on the loaned security. In addition, the Firemen’s
System receives 70% of the net lending fees generated by each loan of securities. The financial
institution receives the remaining 30% of the net lending fees as compensation for its services
provided in the securities lending program. The financial institution indemnifies operation risk and
counter party risk. The Firemen’s System authorizes the lending and loans of the following:
domestic securities, U.S. Treasuries, corporate bonds, and equities. The Firemen’s System does
not have the ability to pledge or sell collateral securities without borrower default. Therefore, for
accounting purposes, the financial statements do not reflect an increase in assets or liabilities
associated with securities lent. At September 30, 2017, $44,864 in loans was outstanding to
borrowers. The Firemen’s System earned income of $343 for its participation in the securities
lending program for the year ended September 30, 2017.

Primary Government — Pension Trust Fund - Firefighters’ Plan

As of September 30, 2017, the Firefighters’ Plan had the following cash deposits and investments:

Equities $ 32,266
Fixed income 11,611
Collective investment funds 12,970
Real estate funds 3,258
Money market funds 461
Other cash deposits 32

$ 60,598

The Firefighters’ Plan investments are continuously exposed to various types of inherent risks.
These risks are mitigated by the Firefighters’ Plan development and continual monitoring of sound
investment policies. The Maturities and Credit Rating by Investment schedules are presented as
follows to provide an illustration of the Firefighters’ Plan’s current level of exposure to various risks.
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Fair Value Measurement and Application. GASB No. 72 was issued to address accounting and

financial and reporting issues related to fair value measurements. The Firefighters’ Plan

categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The hierarchy is based on the
calculation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs ate quoted at prices in
active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3
inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The Firefighters’ Plan has the following recurring fair
value measurements as of September 30, 2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investments, at fair value:
Corporate stocks:
Domestic $ 11,831 — 11,831
International 89 — 89
Gowvernment bonds, agencies and
mortgage-backed securities 2,528 5,466 7,994
Corporate bonds:
Domestic — 3,617 3,617
Exchange traded funds:
Domestic equity 17,838 — 17,838
International equity 2,508 — 2,508
Money market funds — 461 461
Total investments $ 34,794 9,544 44,338
Investments measured at net asset
value (NAV):
OFI Global Trust Company International Growth Fund Class T 12,970
Principal Global Investors U.S. Property Separate Account Class N 3,258
Total investments
measured at fair value 60,566

For the investments measured at NAV at September 30, 2017:

There were no unfunded purchase commitments.
Redemption frequency is daily.

Notice period for redemptions is 1 to 7 days.
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The following schedule provides a summary of the fixed income investment maturities by
investment category, which helps demonstrate the current level of interest rate risk assumed by the
Firefighters’ Plan as of September 30, 2017:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10
Government bonds, agencies,
and mortgage-backed
securities $ 7,994 1,376 2,758 663 3,197
Corporate bonds 3,617 — 2,291 1,326 —
Total $ 11,611 1,376 5,049 1,989 3,197

The Firefighters’ Plan fixed income investments current level of exposure to credit risk, or the risk
that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations, is demonstrated
by the following table as of September 30, 2017:

Credit rating level Total

AA+ $ 6,907
AA- 459
A+ 578
A 950
A- 739
BBB+ 646
BBB —
Not rated 1,332

$ 11,611

Custodial credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The Firefighters’ Plan’s minimum credit quality for each issue shall be “BBB” (or its
equivalent) at the time of purchase. The fixed income portfolio should have an average quality
rating of at least “A” (or its equivalent). In the event of a downgrade below investment grade by any
rating agency, the Investment Manager is required to notify the Firefighters’ Plan and provide a
plan for holding or disposition of said securities.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rate will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest
rate changes. The effective duration of any fixed income portfolio shall not exceed 120% of the
effective duration of the Investment Manager’s broad market benchmark.
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Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Firefighters’ Plan’s
investment in a single issuer. The Firefighters’ Plan policy does not allow the concentration per
issuer to exceed 5% of the portfolio’s market value, with the exception of U.S. government
obligations. Furthermore, the investment manager may not hold more than 5% of the outstanding
shares of any single issuer. It is the Firefighters’ Plan policy to invest in each asset class ranging
between a minimum and maximum as shown below:

Asset class as a percent of total assets

Asset class Minimum Target mix Maximum
Domestic large cap equity 25 % 30 % 35 %
Domestic mid cap equity 15 20 25
International equity 15 25 35
Real estate — 5 10
Fixed income 15 20 25

Long-term expected rate of return on the Firefighters’ Plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class included in the Firefighters’ Plan’s target asset allocation as of September 30, 2017 are
summarized in the following table:

Long-term

expected real

Asset class rate of return

Domestic large cap equity 5.6 %
Domestic small cap equity 7.0
Foreign equity 3.7
Foreign equity — emerging market 7.9
Real estate 6.8
Fixed income 2.2

The above long-term expected real rate of returns represents best estimates of geometric rates of
return for each major asset class included. These rates of return are shown net of inflation
(assumed at 3%).
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Investments that exceed 5% or more of net assets held in trust for pension benefits for the
Firefighters’ Plan at September 30, 2017 are as follows:

Vanguard Russell 1000 Value Index Fund $ 9,556
Vanguard Russell 1000 Growth Index Fund 8,283
Principal Global Investors U.S. Property Separate Account Class N 3,258
OFI Global Trust Company International Growth Fund Class T 12,970

Primary Government — Pension Trust Fund — Police System

As of September 30, 2017, the Police System had the following cash deposits and investments:

Equities:

Common stock $ 188,015

Collective investment funds 194,136

Real estate securities fund 59,907
Mortgaged-backed securities 20,157
Fixed income collective investment fund 15,339
Corporate bonds 51,694
Hedge funds of funds 37,016
Fixed income securities 12,174
Money market funds 43,467
Investment property 882
Partnership interest 146,544
Other cash deposits 7,739

$ 777,070

The Police System’s bank deposits were fully secured or collateralized at September 30, 2017. The
Police System’s bank deposits and repurchase agreements were insured by the FDIC,
collateralized with securities held by the Federal Reserve Bank in the Police System’s name.

Investments are stated at fair value. Fair values are based on the last reported sales price on
September 30 or on the last reported bid price if no sale was made on that date. The real estate
investment fund is valued by the fund manager based on independent real estate appraisals of the
fund’s holdings. The hedge fund of funds are carried at the value reported by the funds custodians
based upon underlying investments. Investment property is reported at estimated fair value as
determined by an independent real estate appraisal of the property.
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Fair Value Measurement and Application. GASB No. 72 was issued to address accounting and
financial and reporting issues related to fair value measurements. The Police System categorizes
its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. The hierarchy is based on the calculation
inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs ate quoted at prices in active
markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs
are significant unobservable inputs. The Police System has the following recurring fair value
measurements as of September 30, 2017:

Investments, at fair value:

Corporate stocks:
Domestic $
International

Government bonds, agencies
and mortgage-backed
securities

Corporate bonds:
Domestic
International

Collective investment funds:
International equity
Domestic equity
Domestic fixed income

Money market funds

Investment property

Total investments $

Investments measured at net
asset value (NAV):
Limited partnership units:
Venture capital
Energy
Hedge funds
Real estate investment trust

Total investments
measured at NAV

Total investments
at fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total

136,601 — —
51,414 — —

— 32,331 —

— 45,501 —
— 6,193 —

101,893 — —
92,243 — —
— 15,339 —
43,467 — —
— — 882

136,601
51,414

32,331

45,501
6,193

101,893
92,243
15,339
43,467

882

425,618 99,364 882

525,864

For the investments measured at NAV at September 30, 2017:

e There were no unfunded purchase commitments.
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e Redemption frequency, when currently eligible, is quarterly.
¢ Notice period for redemptions is 1 to 90 days.

The Police System’s investments are continuously exposed to various types of inherent risks.
These risks are mitigated by the Police System’s development and continual monitoring of sound
investment policies. The investment maturities, credit rating by investment, and foreign currency
exposures by asset class schedules are presented below to provide an illustration of the Police

System’s current level of exposure to various risks.

The following schedule provides a summary of the fixed income investment maturities by
investment type, which helps demonstrate the current level of interest rate risk assumed by the

Police System as of September 30, 2017:

Investment maturities (in years)

Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10

Corporate bonds $ 51,694 825 16,513 20,227 14,129
Mortgaged-backed securities —

nongovernment 17,157 — 2,661 803 13,693
Mortgaged-backed securities —

government 3,000 1 — 37 2,962

Collective investment funds 15,339 4,519 6,743 862 3,215

Government securities 12,174 1,010 5,181 1,795 4,188

$ 99,364 6,355 31,098 23,724 38,187

The Police System'’s fixed income investments current level of exposure to credit risk, or the risk
that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations, is demonstrated

by the following table as of September 30, 2017:

Government Nongovernment

mortgage- mortgage- Collective
backed backed investment Corporate Government

Credit rating level Total securities securities funds bonds securities
AAA $ 14,647 3,000 6,897 — 1,712 3,038
AA 27,822 — 333 15,339 5,258 6,892
A 30,928 — 2,608 — 28,320 —
BBB 9,668 — — — 9,668 —
BB — — — — — —
Cccc 113 — 113 — — —
cC — — — — — —
D 174 — 174 — — —
Not rated 16,012 — 7,032 — 6,736 2,244

$ 99,364 3,000 17,157 15,339 51,694 12,174
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Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value
of an investment. The Police System’s policy is to allow the individual investment managers to
decide what action to take regarding their respective portfolio’s foreign currency exposure. The
following table demonstrates the Police System’s current level of foreign currency exposure as of
September 30, 2017:

Investment
Hedge property
Fixed Money funds and
Equities income market of funds  partnership Total

Australian Dollar $ — 342 — — — 342

British Pound Sterling 917 2,318 — — — 3,235

Canadian Dollar 267 1,363 — — — 1,630

Euro 1,190 3,112 — — — 4,302

Indian Rupee 1,155 — — — — 1,155

Israeli Shekel 1,518 — — — — 1,518

Japanese Yen — — — — — —

Swiss Franc 1,429 — — — — 1,429

Taiw an Dollar 530 — — — — 530
Total foreign

currency 7,006 7,135 — — — 14,141

U.S. Dollar 435,052 92,229 43,467 37,016 147,426 755,190

Total $ 442,058 99,364 43,467 37,016 147,426 769,331

Custodial credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its
obligations. The Fixed Income Portfolio must have an average rating of “A” or better in the
aggregate as measured by at least one credit rating service. In cases where the yield spread
adequately compensates for additional risk, securities rated lower than “A” may be purchased,
provided overall fixed income quality is maintained. All issues will be of investment grade quality
(BBB or Baa rated) or higher at the time of purchase. Up to 15% of the total market value of fixed
income securities may be invested in BBB or Baa rated securities. In cases where credit rating
agencies assign different quality ratings to a security, the lower rating will be used. Should the
rating of a fixed income security fall below minimum investment grade, the investment manager
may continue to hold the security if they believe the security will be upgraded in the future, there is
low risk of default, and buyers will continue to be available throughout the anticipated holding
period. The investment manager has the responsibility of notifying the Board of Trustees through
their designee whenever an issue falls below investment grade.

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment. Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest
rate changes. The average effective duration of the aggregate portfolio, reflecting all instruments,
including Collateralized Mortgage Obligations and Asset-Backed Securities, must be maintained at
plus or minus one year of the duration of the respective investment manager’s benchmark index.
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Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the Police System’s
investment in a single issuer. It is the Police System’s policy to invest in each asset class ranging
between a minimum and maximum as shown below:

Asset class as a percent of total assets

Asset class Minimum Target mix Maximum

Fixed income 14 % 19 % 24 %
Domestic equities:

Large cap 13 18 23

Mid cap 1 6 11

Small cap 1 6 11
Foreign equities:

Deweloped markets 8 13 18

Emerging markets 1 6 11

Non-U.S. deweloping markets 1 6 11
Nondirectional hedge funds of funds — 5 10
Real estate equities 3 8 13
Private equity 3 8 13
Other — 4 9
Money market — 1 6

Long-term expected rate of return on the Police System investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense, and inflation) are developed for each
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class included in the Police System’s target asset allocation as of September 30, 2017 are
summarized in the following table:

Long-term

expected real

Asset class rate of return

Fixed income 0.25 %
Domestic equity 4.50
Foreign equity 4.50
Nondirectional hedge fund of funds 2.15
Real estate (REIT) 4.50
Private equity (partnerships) 7.95
Money market (1.85)
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The above long-term expected real rate of returns represents best estimates of geometric rates of
return for each major asset class included. These rates of return are shown net of inflation
(assumed at 2.5%) and net of investment expenses (assumed at 0.45%).

Liquidity risk is the risk that redemption notice periods are required and longer periods may be
imposed before payment of redemption proceeds are settled for the following investments:

Bank of New York Mellon EB Global Real Estate Securities Fund
ElmTree U.S. Net Lease Fund Ill, LP

EnTrust Capital Diversified Fund QP, Ltd.

EnTrust Special Opportunities Fund Ill, LP

Falcon E&P Opportunities Fund, L.P.

GAM US Institutional Diversity, Inc.

Neuberger Berman Secondary Opportunities Fund Ill, L.P.
Neuberger Berman US Equity Index PutWrite Fund, LLC
Principal U.S. Property Account

Wellington Trust Company International Opportunities Fund

Investments that exceed 5% or more of net assets held in trust for pension benefits for the Police
System are as follows:

Collective funds:

Trilogy International Group Trust | $ 52,776
Lazard Emerging Markets Core Equity Trust 51,414
Wellington Trust Company International Opportunities Fund 49,117
MFB Northern Trust Collective Russell 1,000 Growth Index Fund 46,865
MFB Northern Trust Company Daily S&P 500 Equity Index Fund 45,378
Brandes Non-U.S. Small Cap Portfolio Fund 44,399
Principal Real Estate Investment Trust 39,165

The Police System patrticipates in securities lending programs in order to enhance investment yield.
In a securities lending transaction, the Police System transfers possession — but not title — of the
security to the borrower. Collateral consisting of cash, letter of credit, or government securities is
received and held by a financial institution. The broker/dealer collateralizes their borrowing (usually
in cash) to 102% of the security value plus accrued interest, and this collateral is adjusted daily to
maintain the 102% level. The Police System maintains all the rights in the collateral of a secured
lender under the Uniform Commercial Code. The Police System continues to earn income on the
loaned security. In addition, the Police System receives 70% of the net lending fees generated by
each loan of securities. The financial institution receives the remaining 30% of the net lending fees
as compensation for its services provided in the securities lending program. The financial institution
indemnifies operational risk and counterparty risk. The Police System authorizes the lending of
domestic securities, U.S. Treasuries, corporate bonds, and equities. The Police System does not
have the ability to pledge or sell collateral securities without borrower default. Therefore, for
accounting purposes, the financial statements do not reflect an increase in assets or liabilities
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associated with securities lent. Outstanding loans to borrowers at September 30, 2017 were
$51,097. The Police System earned income of $220 for its participation in the securities lending
program for the year ended September 30, 2017.

Primary Government — Pension Trust Fund — Employees System

As of September 30, 2017, the Employees System had the following cash deposits and
investments:

Common stocks $ 198,736
Managed international equity funds 193,611
Managed master limited partnerships 76,567
Bonds 87,458
Domestic bond funds 86,173
Real estate funds 88,420
Temporary cash investments 9,362
Managed hedge fund of funds 75,880
Other cash deposits 157

$ 816,364

The bank balances of the Employees System at September 30, 2017 were insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250. The remaining balances were collateralized by
securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department in the Employees System’s
name.

Investments are reported at fair market value. Securities traded on a national or international
exchange funds are valued at the unit value quoted by the investee entity. Security transactions
and any resulting realized gains or losses are accounted for on a completed transaction basis.
Commingled funds are valued at the unit value quoted by the investee entity based on the
underlying asset values. Real estate funds and other managed funds are valued based on
valuations of underlying investments as reported by fund managers. Certain investments are
valued at net asset value (NAV) as a practical expedient. These investments have no unfunded
commitments and have a redemption frequency or notice ranging from daily to 90 days.

Fair Value Measurement and Application. GASB 72 was issued to address accounting and
financial and reporting issues related to fair value measurements. The Employees System
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The hierarchy is based on the
calculation inputs used to measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs ate quoted at prices in
active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3
inputs are significant unobservable inputs.
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The Employees System has the following recurring fair value measurements as of September 30,
2017:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investments, at fair value:
Fixed income securities:
U.S. government securities $ 20,389 3,039 — 23,428
Corporate bonds — 30,336 — 30,336
Domestic bond funds 11,406 — — 11,406
International bonds and securities 1,631 30,020 — 31,651
Other debt obligations 20,267 — — 20,267
Common stocks 198,736 — — 198,736
Managed master limited partnerships 44,792 — — 44,792
Total investments $ 297,221 63,395 — 360,616
Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV):
Loomis High Yield Consenvative Trust (B) 30,151
SSGA Passive Bond Market Index (NL) Fund 35,754
Principal Real Estate Group Annuity Contract 88,420
Acadian Emerging Markets Mutual Equity Fund Il 59,032
Kabouter International Opportunities Fund Il 31,775
Silchester International Value Equity Group Trust 93,146
Walter Scott Group Trust International 41,434
Entrust Capital Diversified Fund 34,577
Weatherlow Offshore Fund | 41,302
Total investments measured at NAV 455,591
Total investments measured at fair value $ 816,207
Investment derivative instruments:
Foreign exchange contracts $ — 341 — 341
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The Employees System does not have a formal policy to limit foreign currency risk. Risk of loss
arises from changes in currency exchange rates. The Employees System’s exposure to foreign
currency risk is presented on the following table:

Polish Zloty

British Pound
Australian Dollar
Canadian Dollar
Euro

Japanese Yen
Mexican Peso
Danish Krone
Hong Kong Dollar
Swiss Franc
South Korean Won
New Taiwan Dollar
Thai Baht

Indian Rupee
Singapore Dollar
Brazilian Real
Turkish New Lira
South Africa Rand
Malaysian Ringgit
Swedish Krona
Indonesian Rupiah
Norwegian Krone
Various other currencies

Total

Managed Managed
international limited
Short-term Debt funds partnerships Total

$ 6 60 1,061 — 1,127
38 1,880 20,133 5,153 27,204

5 361 1,419 — 1,785

15 767 1,641 1,205 3,628

24 5,927 23,921 10,515 40,387

29 4,960 37,481 9,426 51,896

16 109 1,849 — 1,974

4 71 3,250 — 3,325

— — 19,694 673 20,367

— — 15,293 837 16,130

— — 12,978 — 12,978

— — 7,793 — 7,793

— — 5,354 — 5,354

— — 4,980 — 4,980

— — 3,319 1,648 4,967

— — 4,571 341 4,912

— — 3,998 — 3,998

— — 2,419 — 2,419

— — 1,797 — 1,797

— — 1,511 — 1,511

— — 1,505 — 1,505

— — 247 716 963

— — 527 — 527

$ 137 14,135 176,741 30,514 221,527
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Credit Risk of Debt Securities

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counter party to an investment will not fulfill its
obligation to the Employees System. Below is a list of fixed income credit quality ratings:

Quality rating

Aaa/U.S. governments $ 80,329
Aa 6,702
A 25,984
Baa 3,920
Below Baa 55,757
Not rated 301

Total $ 172,993

All temporary cash investments held by the Employees Retirement System at September 30, 2017
were unrated.

Interest Rate Risk

The Employees System does not have a formal policy to limit interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is
the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair values of an investment. Duration
is a measure of debt instrument’s exposure to a change in interest rate and the related sensitivity of
market price to parallel shifts in the yield curve. It uses the present value of cash flows, weighted
for those cash flows as a percentage of the instrument’s full price.

Effective

Investment Fair value duration

Payden and Rygel $ 32,220 6.56 years
Allegiant (PNC) 54,600 6.49 years
SSGA 35,754 5.98 years
Loomis 30,151 4.23 years
Vanguard 20,268 8.00 years

$ 172,993

The Employees System participates in a securities lending program administered by a financial
institution. Brokers who borrow the securities provide collateral, usually in the form of cash valued
at 102% for domestic securities loaned, resulting in no credit risk for the Employees System. At
September 30, 2017, the term to maturity of the securities on loan is matched with the term to
maturity of the investment of the cash collateral. These loans can be terminated on demand by
either the lender or borrower. The Employees System cannot pledge or sell noncash collateral
unless the borrower defaults. On June 21, 2017, the Employee System executed a custodial
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agreement with another financial institution. As of September 30, 2017, the Employees System had
no securities on loan.
Concentration of Credit Risk

At September 30, 2017, the Employees System has the following concentrations, defined as
investments (other than those issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government) in any one
organization, that represent 5% or more of total investments to the Employees System:

Acadian Asset Management:

Emerging Market Fund $ 59,032
Twin Capital Management:

Domestic Equity 53,703
PNC Capital Advisors:

U.S. Broad Market Core Fixed Income 54,600
Principal Global Investors:

Real Estate Group Annuity Contract 88,420
Silchester International Advisors:

International Value Equity Group Trust 93,146
Evanston Weatherlow Offshore:

Hedge fund 41,303
Walter Scott & Partners Limited Group Trust:

International Equity Fund 41,434

(b) Component Unit — SLDC

State statutes and SLDC investment policies are the same as for the primary government. SLDC funds,
in the form of cash on deposit or certificates of deposit, are required to be insured or collateralized by
authorized investments held in SLDC’s name. At June 30, 2018, all of SLDC'’s cash deposits were
covered by federal depository insurance or collateral held by the pledging institution’s trust department
or agent in SLDC’s name. At June 30, 2018, the market value of investments approximated the
carrying value of $57.
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(3) Receivables, Net

Intergovern-  Charges for Total
Taxes mental services Other receivables
Governmental activities:
General fund $ 104,523 3,708 5,165 2,874 116,270
Redevelopment project fund 24,332 1,202 — — 25,534
Capital projects fund 4,382 1,203 18 1 5,604
Grants fund — 10,783 — — 10,783
Other governmental funds 38,290 586 1,516 627 41,019
Internal service funds — — 1,159 — 1,159
Total governmental
activities $ 171,527 17,482 7,858 3,502 200,369
Business-type activities:
Airport $ — 4,688 4,307 2,442 11,437
Water Division — — 14,842 — 14,842
Parking Division — — 211 — 211
Total business-type
activities $ — 4,688 19,360 2,442 26,490

All amounts are scheduled for collection during the subsequent fiscal year.

(4) Allowance For Uncollectible Accounts

The allowance for uncollectible accounts, which has been deducted from the related receivable in the
government-wide statement of net position and fund financial statements, consists of the following

balances:

Gowvernmental activities:

Taxes receivable — general fund

Taxes receivable — redevelopment projects funds

Taxes receivable — other governmental funds

License and permits receivable — general fund

Charges for senvices receivable — general fund

Charges for senvices receivable — other governmental funds
Business-type activities:

Charges for senvices receivable — Airport

Charges for senices receivable — Water Division
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Component Unit — SLDC Receivables

SLDC notes and loans receivable consist principally of small business loans made to facilitate business
growth. The commercial loans are primarily financed utilizing funds provided by the Community
Development Administration (CDA) of the City, Economic Development Administration, Environmental
Protection Agency, and the State of Missouri. The proceeds from any repayment of these loans are
generally payable back to the funding source or re-loaned in accordance with the lending program. Grantor
funds received for these lending programs are recorded as a liability and categorized as due to other
governmental agencies.

Restricted Assets
(a) Airport
Cash and investments, restricted in accordance with bond provisions, are as follows at June 30, 2018:

Airport bond fund:

Debt senvice account $ 109,772
Debt senice reserve account 26,546
Airport renewal and replacement fund 3,500
Passenger facility charge fund 19,047
Airport debt senvice stabilization fund 38,211
Airport construction fund 14,923
Drug enforcement agency funds 2,071
$ 214,070

Bond provisions require that revenues derived from the operation of the Airport be deposited into the
unrestricted Airport Revenue Fund. From this fund, the following allocations are made (as soon as
practicable in each month after the deposit of revenues, but no later than five business days before the
end of each month) in the following order of priority, and as applicable:

1) Unrestricted Airport Operation and Maintenance Fund: an amount sufficient to pay the estimated
operation and maintenance expenses during the next month.

2) Airport Bond Fund: for credit to the Debt Service Account, if and to the extent required, so that the
balance in said account shall equal the accrued aggregate debt service on the bonds, to the last
day of the then current calendar month. This account shall be used only for payment of bond
principal and interest as the same shall become due.

3) Airport Bond Fund: for credit to the Debt Service Reserve Account, an amount sufficient to maintain
a balance in such account equal to the debt service reserve requirement (an amount equal to the
greatest amount of principal and interest due in any future fiscal year). This account shall be
available for deficiencies in the Debt Service Account on the last business day of any month, and
the balance shall be 